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Corporate Information
NAEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping
Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Ms. Chan Sau Chi

Mr. Liu Min

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Charnwut Bernard

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Tsoi Kin Lung

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of America, N.A.

China Construction Bank Corporation
Citibank, N.A.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
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OF BUSINESS
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Shatin

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House
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Financial Highlights
IBREE

Year ended

31 December 2009

HZ_2TNF

T-A=t—-RLEFE
HK$ MillionE &8 7T

Year ended
31 December 2008
BE-—ZENF

+ZA=+—HIFE

HK$ MillonB & 7T

Revenue R 9,071.0 10,127.8
Profit before tax* RRBE A BRI 1,939.1 1,294.3
Net profit attributable to B R AEAL AL R
shareholders
— Underlying net profit* — ERa ) 1,793.2 1,177.0
— Reported net profit —BREAD T 1,648.0 1,203.8
Basic earnings per share BREXREF]
- Based on underlying net profit*  — LAEL A& FI 5 &+ HK59.8 centsi (|l HK39.2 centsj{lll
- Based on reported net profit — ABRMEAEFETE HK54.9 centsi (|l HK40.1 centsj (Il
Full-year dividend per share BRE2FRE HK28.0 cents3&l HK22.0 centsiE I
— Interim dividend per share — G HEAR S HK10.0 centsi&1l HK12.0 centsi& 1l
— Proposed final dividend per share  — @z &R HRAR B HK18.0 centsj&1l HK10.0 cents& 1l
Dividend payout ratio pi3=Ns = 51% 55%
Current ratio BN E 3.03 2.61
Net asset value per share EREEZFE HK$2.783# t HK$2.427% 7T
Net gearing FEELE 10% 12%
Revenue Profit Attributable to Owners
EXEH of the Company
RARFHE AELER
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEBTT BEAT
10,500 2,100
9,000 1,800
7,500 1,500
1,177
6,000 1,200 10a7 1078
4,500 900
3,000 600
388
1,500 300
0 ]
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 20038 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
* Excluding: TEE
2009: discount on acquisition of HK$11.2 million and impairment loss on ZETREF  WBETE-T B TEBTRAREERE R
available-for-sale investments of HK$156.4 million BEEE—RETREOT&8T
2008:  discount on acquisition of HK$26.8 million ZEEN\F: WETE_T AN\ T8ET
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Chairman’s Statement
FERSE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighted to report to
our shareholders that Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) delivered
another set of remarkable results for the financial year ended
31 December 2009. Operating landscape for laminate business
improved from second quarter of 2009 due to massive stimulus
packages implemented by governments worldwide. Growing
signs of global economic stabilization from the third quarter
of 2009 helped to lift our sales volume and profitability with
remarkable improvement. Boosted by favourable government
policies, domestic demand for consumer products in China saw
impressive growth at rates well ahead of the rest of the world
during the year. The Group, benefited from the persistent focus
on the PRC market, has consistently advanced our domestic
market share in China. China is now our single largest market
with domestic sales denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) reaching
approximately 40% of Group revenue in 2009. Our disciplined
operational execution and competitive cost structure, coupled
with diversified product portfolio enabled the Group to sail
through the financial crisis with outstanding performance. To
reward our shareholders, the Board proposes a final dividend
of HK18 cents per share subject to shareholders’ approval.
Together with the interim dividend of HK10 cents per share paid
in September 2009, this will constitute a total dividend of HK28
cents per share for the full year.

Revenue Breakdown by Product & #5845 #7

RO

RAAEREEFE  MARSLIBIRER - BER
EBHRZERERAR(TAR]) REMB AR ([£E])
REBE-ZENFT-_A=+—HILFENBEH
BRBMEE - BEESBERFERE D BRI
B BRERTSERER _ZTENFE_FEHF
8 2REFEAE—FTEMREBTE  SEEE
BRAMBEHESSREINE - SERBTREK
- PEDEBMERN A TR RKNFREFAER
BE - ERERENEMCER - KE-EREZEH
RABEARLHS - A TERAZTSHEEER - —
EENEPERAEEZAE-—T5  AREH
ERIEBRHETL40% - EEEMBREN 2 ER
o IEE B IR ARE RS TN E R
e CEEXRDERSRGHE  YESEHMR
B EEFEHRIRBBEER VB - LAE
AR - HERERBAFRRZERES - BRKZ
ZETNFHAREER OB ZPHBRE  2FIK
BHERAEER /B -

8%

27%

52%

9%

12% .

53%

26%

FY2009 FY2008
ZETAFHERFE —EENTFHRFE
Glass Epoxy Laminates RABBAEERER
Paper Laminates HBIME R
[ Upstream materials* R
B Others? E
* Upstream materials including copper foil, epoxy resin, glass fabric and EhE e ERE  REEE  BBSERKEAR
bleached kraft paper Es
# Others comprises drilling services and PVB # Hith o RSB LIRSS N B 2 IR B4R T B
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

PERFORMANCE

With better than expected export demand and buoyant domestic
China market, sales revenue rebounded with strong momentum
in the second half of 2009 (“2H 2009”). Consumption of
electronic products was stimulated by the implementation of the
“home appliances to the country side” subsidy programme by
the PRC government in 2009 which in turn boosted demand for
paper laminates. As a result, paper laminates contributed over
15% of Group earnings while overall laminates shipment volume
in 2H 2009 was up 25% against first half of 2009 (“1H 2009”).
Utilization rates of our laminate plants capacities reached over
90% since the third quarter 2009 (“Q3 2009”). Due to lower
average selling prices of laminate products in 2009 than the
previous year, consolidated revenue of the Group declined 10%
to HK$9,071.0 million. Underlying earnings before interest and tax
(“EBIT”) (excluding non-recurring items) increased substantially
by 41% to HK$1,994.6 million. Volume sales increased around
5% against the previous year with average monthly shipment
reaching 7.6 million square meters.

Distribution costs increased 11% due to higher shipment volume.
Administrative expenses decreased 5% as a result of strict
cost control initiatives. Finance costs substantially decreased
to HK$55.5 million mainly attributable to lower interest rates on
bank borrowings. Effective tax rate was 7%, being slightly higher
than last year.

RERBR

B QB RETEHER - I EPBEALTISHENR
&3 SEEEXER _TTNFTHFRAMBRGER
iR - FEBFE—TENFERIRE B IHE
BEIRER > ABIRIBERAEE - W RBARE
ERAAENFER - Bt - SEARERERE®
ZENERIBERBI5% _ETNFT¥FE
EEREAERcEATONEER LY FIRE
25% - REERNEARBEOREERAEXE -_FTTN
FE=FECHIBIO% - AR -_ZETNFEEER
EHRAFHEER_STN\FE  KFEZFAER
BALERD10%ENHELT —BEETT ° AR
MERRBZ ERBN(TEEFEFIEAR AR
BN41% - EZETAEATEAEARNTSET - HEE
REFENGS% BAFHNEERSLBERTE

BN EENESIZIN - B AL IN11% °
THRAS T 5% - T E2mRERBZEHIRAZIEG
=W MERARBRSEATHALT8ET
TEMRRITEENETE - BERERER/T% &
EFRBEM LT
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Chairman’s Statement FER %

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our consolidated financial and liquidity position stayed robust
with strong cash inflow. As at 31 December 2009, net current
assets and current ratio of the Group were approximately
HK$5,047.6 million (31 December 2008 — HK$4,004.0 million)
and 3.03 (31 December 2008 — 2.61), respectively.

The net working capital cycle extended to 155 days as at 31
December 2009 from 113 days as at 31 December 2008 on the
following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, increased to
102 days (31 December 2008 — 75 days) as the Group
strategically stocked up key raw materials in anticipation
of rising commodity prices.

- Trade receivables including amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, in terms of debtors turnover days, increased
to 95 days (31 December 2008 — 70 days), as a result of
higher sales revenue in the second half of 2009.

- Trade and bills payables including amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, in terms of creditors turnover days, increased
to 42 days (31 December 2008 — 32 days).

mENE & & KR
E@m%ﬁ%ﬁ&mﬁééﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁhﬁﬁ i
ﬁ?eﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁ}m}\ —7 ?jlfﬁ'f' H +_
B RBEEFEN AR TENTEENTEST
“EENF+ZA=+—H O+ EZNEEE
JC) B EA RS0 (ZEENFF+ A =1+—
H:261)-

FEEBEESBEA ST N\F+_A=+—HH®
—B— +fEL§i_77h¢+ A=+—81
—ERTHEBE > @AoWT

- MREBEHERER LA - B RgE
WMEBEMB BT - FTEASET
RE-—BAZE-H(ZZZEN\F+-_A=+—
BH:+t+HAB)-

- ERSREAFTEFHELAEN - E
SRR R ERARRNBARZ
B 5 EIHR) B ERENATRR (=
TENFHZA=T—B:£+8) -

- B HRNER L ENZR(ERaiEkER
ZMBARZE HEMER) EEHTERS
NW+—B(ZZZEN\F+=A=+—8H":
=+=H)-
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)
The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of interest bearing borrowings
net of cash and cash equivalents to total equity) decreased to
10% (31 December 2008 — 12%). In 2009, the Group invested
HK$303.2 million in new production capacities. The proportion
of bank borrowings between short term and long term stood at
34%:66% (31 December 2008 — 34%:66%). Less than 3% of the
bank borrowings was denominated in RMB and the rest in Hong
Kong or US dollars.

The Group continued to adopt prudent financial management
policy including the use of interest rate swap contract to minimise
its exposure to fluctuation in interest rates movement. At the
end of 2009, we had entered into interest rate swap agreements
of notional amount of HK$1.2 billion with reputable financial
institutions for a weighted average duration of 0.9 years and
interest rate of 2.69%. The Group also entered into commodity
forward contracts to manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuation
in commodities prices. The fair value of these contracts
amounted to HK$11.6 million as at 31 December 2009. Other
than derivative financial instruments in connection with our daily
operations as mentioned above, the Group had not entered
into any other type of derivative financial instruments throughout
2009. There was no material foreign exchange exposure to
the Group during the year under review. The Group’s revenue,
mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars,
was fairly matched with the currency requirement of operating
expenses.

mENE R RERR )
EEZFEBLEGIGRRASEESSEMER 2N
BRBEHEREEL E)REI0N(ZEENF+Z
A=+—8:12%) - SER =TT NFRKET
ZRECHTEEUAETNEERE - HH
REEEMELHA34% : 66%( — T NF+ A
=1+—H :34% : 66%) ° RITIEEF DHRI%AEA
REEFH - AR ATTRETER

SEEERDBENYHERE - 2EMNANEEH
BH - BB RBFAEROER - R-FFN
FE - SEEARFEEZEMEBRITHER
ToEBTZNERIEH - BN EEHEHNZ
ke FERREF XD R B0.95F K 2.69% © £ H
TRV EmESRER  WHERRERKEHE
BASRORR  ZEFAOR_ZFTTAF+A
=t—HZAFES-—T-ANTEET -KTH
SEAELEEBZTESRIEN - SERF
A WEFTSAHAMEMBENTESRTA - £E
FRALEEHEANSNERSE - EEEMPATEI
BT ARBRETHE - B2ERXNEBER
LEBIRBURTT -

The Glass Epoxy Laminate plant in Jiangyin, Jiangsu province further strengthens our leading position in eastern China.

fATEE TR AIRAIBA G BRERBE — Pt REEERTISOES -
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had a workforce of over
8,800 (81 December 2008 — 8,000). The increase in headcount
was in line with improved capacity utilization against last year. In
addition to offering competitive salary package, the Group grants
discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based on our overall
financial achievement and their individual performance.

PROSPECTS

Global economy is expected to remain stable in year 2010 with
positive growth prospects in emerging markets especially China.
Recent economic data indicated widespread rebound in global
manufacturing activities as well as improving trend for export
demand in US and Europe, which is a clear sign of continued
economic recovery. Looking ahead, the Chinese government will
continue to implement the subsidy policy of household appliances
and automobile purchases in 2010. These measures will definitely
have a positive impact on domestic consumption of electronic
products which will translate into strong demand for laminate
products. Business momentum for electronic products in the first
two months of 2010 reflected a sequential upturn against the
last quarter of 2009. On the back of higher commodities prices
and robust market demand, average selling prices of laminates
experienced an uptrend in the first two months of 2010 against
the previous quarter. Supply of glass yarn and glass fabric
remained tight recently. Benefiting from our vertically integrated
business model with a stable supply of upstream materials, the
Group definitely has a competitive advantage over our peers in
the industry.

Given our dominant market position and diverse product range
stretching from mass demand to high performance laminates,
the Group is in an unrivaled position to benefit from opportunities
arising from growth in the key markets. To reinforce our leading
position in the global laminates market, the Group will scale up
production capability of paper laminates by 400,000 sheets per
month in Fogang, Guangdong province in the first half of 2010.
Additional monthly capacity of 400,000 sheets each of paper
and glass epoxy laminates will be increased in the laminate plant
in Jiangyin, Jiangsu province in the second half of 2010, which
will facilitate further penetration of printed circuit board (“PCB”)
customer base in eastern China. By the end of 2010, our monthly
laminate capacity is expected to reach 9.2 million sheets, up
15% against the previous year.

)UJiﬁi)E
R-ZEZNF+-_A=1+—H8 £H /HFH%
HBiE8,800A(ZFEENF+ A =+—H : 8,000

A)> E\I}\%ﬁ(i‘ébﬂixﬁﬂ/\“ﬁ@ﬁﬁTf%if
B - Bk TIREAZRFINEHMTE - TER
BRI BARMER 8 TERER ?é‘ﬁﬁl%%wﬁ
ETREMRETL -

A&

RMGETRIN S -2F#R/IR - METSL
HETENQBELERAKRIT - &TQBEEER
TEREEFDHPERE  ERHOFRKESER
B - DA RS R A A RHE LT o REEARK -
FREBAN _ZE-—TFREEETRERESSK
FTERHRRECR - WEREETE S AT AL EFE
mERKEREEER - FARFEHEERERNS
ko BFEMTIS KE Z-ZFEEMEAEER
PERFE  #F_STNEENFEN B -
E%DDE*%L/?‘E&?@%E@W BHRKEEHT KEHE
HERERNFEEER _E—SFaMEARE
FEMFEEM LA - &30 - EiEeEkEy
R EmHERER  SEREEEUNERES
HERR - SRRV AHLERTE - EIFREEE
EBMER SN HRFED -

BEEEETISNRSHN ;ST ENERES
BEEEFKEANEZESVEENERERER &
B WA TE B B M A IC RN IS b A TR (i de 2k B
FEMISERAE RO - BE— T EBE
2HEIRERNTISABMA - REHRANE
REGRANAEINERREES  R_T—ZTF L
FERRIMENNT AR T &K o ttHh - BTETHE
RERMER IR R AR P AR - REFEN
T-TETHFFEINNIEE LRERE AR ER
ERMREEBHAERER GRERSHN T8
e EHEZT-TFR - KEG ARMERERE
TEHRENE ZTEK - REFIEMI5% °
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Chairman’s Statement EEHRE

PROSPECTS (continued)

Furthermore, the Group is well positioned to reap the benefit from
developing thin and high performance laminates. We experienced
increasing laminate sales to high density interconnect PCB
(“HDI”) customers. The greater need for consumer electronics
with networking capabilities supported the development of more
compact hand-held devices such as smart phones and mobile
computers, utilizing HDI technology. The Group expects demand
for laminates used in HDI manufacturing will grow in the next few
years. We will continue to invest in upgrading our product mix
in order to capture this growing business segment. To promote
economic growth and achieve sustainable urban development,
the Chinese government has initiated a new pilot scheme for the
redevelopment of “Three Olds” — old towns, old villages and old
factory buildings in Guangdong province. The Group has been in
active discussions with local authorities in Shenzhen to explore
the feasibility of redeveloping our plant in Longhua, Shenzhen.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers,
banks, the management and employees for their unreserved
support to the Group in the past financial year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong, 1 March 2010
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EENEREBAEZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 46, is an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive
Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive
Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Chemical Holdings
Limited (“KCHL”) in 1988 and has over 21 years’ experience
in the marketing of a wide range of industrial products. He is
responsible for the overall strategic planning of the Group and
sets the general direction and goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung
was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 57, is an executive Director
and the Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both
being executive Directors, and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho,
an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 1991 and
has over 18 years’ experience in the laminate industry. He is
responsible for the overall implementation of the strategic plans
and goals of the Group. Mr. Cheung was appointed as an
executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 49, is an executive Director. He is
a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung,
both being executive Directors, and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 1988
and has over 21 years’ experience in marketing. He is mainly
responsible for the Group’s marketing operations and is also
the general manager of the paper laminate factories in Fogang
and Shaoguan, the PRC. Mr. Cheung is also an executive
director of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF”),
a 64.44%-owned subsidiary of the Company as at the end of
reporting period and whose shares are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”). Mr. Cheung was
appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 53, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a
co-founder of KCHL and has over 21 years’ experience in the
sales and distribution of laminates. Mr. Lam is also an executive
director of KBCF. He was appointed as an executive Director in
November 2006.

BITESE

REIFESRE - 4658 ' ARAMITESTREF -
RPTESRBEREERKRBEFREZS  MTE
ERRFALEZMR » REER— N\ FIEEZE
BEETEB(EBELT))  BZRIXERZTS
HEHEABNFLER - RELBEAEERER
BRE| - WAREBREARITHEBR - RELE
R-FERNFLARZERNTES -

SREISRSEAE - 575  ARRIMITEEREFTAL
2o REERNTEFTREELERREFELE
2 RRTEERFIFEAEZAR « REER
—NAN—FMBRELCT  EBREERTERR
18R - WEREBHITAKREZ KRB IR
BENIE - RAEENRZZZERNFLARZERH
TEF-

REITFSEAE - 4958 - MITESE - RAEEARNTE
FREFELAERKEBEEZRLS - RITEER
REFEZRL « REER— N N\FINEEEL
T HMBHEREIFLER REEFTEEE
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Copper Foil Holdings Limited ([ KBCF |) (FA%R 5 57
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MERELL - B35% - ITESE - MELAREEL
THEEIMAZ — EHERDHERERTEA
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B BN _ZFTRF+ - AEZTR/NTES -
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies EE N SR EEAE 2 EF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 26, is an executive Director. Mr.
Cheung is the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, all being executive
Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 2004 and is involved in the
laminate marketing operations for the southern region of China.
He was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Ms. CHAN Sau Chi, aged 35, is an executive Director. Ms. Chan
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Statistics from Carleton University,
Canada. Prior to joining KCHL in 1999, she was an executive in
a financial public relations firm. Ms. Chan is responsible for the
Group’s purchase of laminate-related raw materials. She was
appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LIU Min, aged 41, is an executive Director. He joined KCHL in
1998. Mr. Liu graduated from Harbin University with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Chemical Engineering. Prior to joining KCHL, he had
over 7 years’ experience in the copper foil industry. He was
appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 41, is an executive Director. He joined
KCHL in 1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy
laminate facilities in Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin,
the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical
Engineering from the Chongging University and a Master’s
Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as
an executive Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 36, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo
is also a member of the audit committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Professional Accountancy from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lo
joined KCHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KCHL's company
secretarial work. Prior to joining KCHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-
executive Director in July 2006.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHAN Charnwut Bernard, aged 45, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Chan is also the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company, and a
member of the audit committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Chan is a Deputy to the National People’s
Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan is a
graduate of Pomona College in California, the United States.
He holds the positions of President and executive director of
Asia Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and Asia Insurance Company Limited. Mr. Chan also
serves as the advisor of Bangkok Bank Public Company Ltd.,
Hong Kong Branch, the chairman of the Hong Kong-Thailand
Business Council and the chairperson of The Hong Kong Council
of Social Service. Mr. Chan also serves as director on the boards
of several companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, namely City e-Solutions Limited (non-executive), New
Heritage Holdings Limited (non-executive), Chen Hsong Holdings
Limited (independent non-executive), China Resources Enterprise
Limited (independent non-executive) and Yau Lee Holdings
Limited (independent non-executive).

Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 58, joined as an
independent non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr.
Chan is also the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company, and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Chan is the
chairman and an executive director of Cafe de Coral Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive
director of Starlite Holdings Limited since 1993 and Pacific
Textiles Holdings Limited since 2007, and a non-executive
director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited since 2007, all three
companies are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Chan formerly was a professional city planner with various
government bodies in Hong Kong and Canada. He obtained a
Bachelor’s degree in Arts and a Master’s degree in City Planning
from the University of Manitoba, Canada. Mr. Chan acts as the
Honourary Chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing
and serves on the executive committee of the Hong Kong Retail
Management Association, and the general committee of the
Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong. He is also an appointed
member of the Quality Tourism Services Association, a board
member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, and a member of the
Provisional Minimum Wage Commission, HKSAR.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 63, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Leung is also the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and a member
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Leung graduated from the Hong Kong University in
1969. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He has broad experience in accounting
and auditing matters, having worked in the auditing profession
for over 30 years, 20 years of which he served as a partner. Mr.
Leung retired from PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005. Mr. Leung
was the President of Lions Club of Victoria in 1986 and 1998 and
a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995 to 1997. He is a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and is an independent non-
executive director of Eva Precision Industrial Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. MOK Yiu Keung, Peter, aged 58, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Mok is also a
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Mok is the chairman
of Biu Chun Watch Hands & Parts Manufacturers Limited and
has over 30 years of experience in the manufacturing industry.
Mr. Mok pursued a Master’s degree at Yanshan University
in 2003. He served as the Vice Chairman of the Watch Parts
& Equipment Exhibition in 1997 and the Chairman in 1998
and 1999. He was the Vice President and later the Executive
Vice President of the Professional Validation Council of Hong
Kong Industries from 1999 to 2001 and from 2001 to 2003,
respectively. Mr. Mok joined the Hong Kong St. John Ambulance
in 1998 as the Regional president of the General Management
Section. Mr. Mok is currently the vice chairman of the China
Horologe Association, the Honorary vice President of Shenzhen
Watch & Clock Association and the President of the Hong Kong
Rangers Football Club.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, age 42, joined KCHL in 2002 and is
the general manager of the glass fabric factories in Shenzhen
and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr. Chang graduated from Hunan
Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Textiles. Prior
to joining KCHL, he had over 13 years’ experience in the glass
fabric industry.

Mr. HU Guo Liang, age 53, joined KCHL in 2000 and is the
general manager of the glass yarn factory in Panyu Nansha,
the PRC. Mr. Hu graduated from the East China University of
Science and Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree in Material
Science Engineering. Prior to joining KCHL, he had over 18
years’ experience in the glass yarn industry.

Mr. TSOI Kin Lung, aged 34, joined KCHL in November 2003.
Prior to that, he was an accountant at an international accounting
firm. Mr. Tsoi is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’'s Degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is in charge of the company secretarial work and
financial management of the Group.
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Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

The directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 47.

An interim dividend of HK10 cents per share was paid to the
shareholders of the Company during the year. The directors
now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK18 cents
per share to the shareholders on the register of members of the
Company on 26 April 2010, and the retention of the remaining
profit in the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share
capital of the Company are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed
securities.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the
Group are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 51.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share
premium and special reserve of the Company are also available
for distribution to shareholders provided that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2009, the sum of the retained profits, the share
premium and the special reserve of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$7,204,030,000.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 December 2009, resulting in an increase in fair value of
approximately HK$9,095,000 which has been credited directly to
the consolidated income statement.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Expenditure of approximately HK$303,160,000 was incurred
during the year primarily to expand the production capacity of the
Group. Details of all the changes during the year are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2009 are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HK$3,837,000.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Ms. Chan Sau Chi

Mr. Liu Min

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Charnwut Bernard

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Messrs. Cheung Kwok Keung, Cheung Kwok Ping,
Cheung Ka Ho and Zhou Pei Feng, being executive Directors
and Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter, being an independent non-
executive Director, will retire from directorship by rotation and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Each of the executive Directors had entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 5 November 2006. Each service contract will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than one month’s
notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (continued)

The non-executive Director and each of the independent non-
executive Directors had been appointed for an initial term of
two years commencing in November 2006. In addition, the
appointment of the non-executive Director will continue after initial
term unless terminated by three months’ notice in writing served
by either party to the other. The appointment of the independent
non-executive Directors will continue after the initial term unless
otherwise agreed between the parties. All Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies” on pages 11 to 15.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has a service contract which is
not terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

EEREEZRBENH

FATEERRBBUIFMTER AR _ZTT
NET— ARG VP REIME - thHh - SFITE
E2ERR T FRRESE - BRI~ TRmE—T7
FH—AAEMBMRLED - BYIFATEEZ
Ea RS FERES € RSB BEERIR
Sh o RRERARBANRZABMERM TR
BaRHMERABES LHARA( EFRADEH
BERIE -

LR EEZBEFBERIINEN
BREBEANBZERE | -

ESENR-E 95

REARREERRBFASEREEZEEHE
EAREETAEATAR - FRBARECAER
BRRIN AR L2 BRIEA K ©

Annual Report 2009 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited 1 9

ZZNFFR BERBRERERD A



Directors’ Report EE2i{RE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2009, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

EFEzERiER
REZZZNF+ZA=1+—0  EFREEHE
ARARAT REEEEE(ERREARRAE K
([BH REEEG]]) BXVER) 2 it - HERERR D
BEHP - HEARRRIRER F LB EIIE352145
BB 2 B My e - SRR EHEITAE
FRITEHF R HHEETAE MG ARA R R E S
ERGIARAR (B 2 =0T

Long position EA
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company  (a) AR FREEO10E T ZER (AR
(“Shares”) %)
Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital
Number of of the Company
issued Shares (o NN
Name of Director Capacity held ERTRA
Y EEME e BT RO E ZBHNBEDL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,539,500 0.051
SR EIEE S A EmEEA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 801,500 0.027
SRER S BmEAA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 89,000 0.003
RREFTE BEHEEAA
Ms. Chan Sau Chi Beneficial owner 60,000 0.002
BRFL/ME EmEEA
Mr. Lo Ka Leong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.003
BRBRE BmEAA
Mr. Mok Yiu Keung, Peter (Note) Beneficial owner 150,000 0.005
g A () BEHEEAA
Note:  These Shares were held by his spouse. Mg HEROHBHEGBSS -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued) EEZEROER o)

Long position (continued) RER(#E)

(b)  Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard (b ARE]| 2 EHB BN EEEERE
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the IR Gl #2 A% ET1E 1,5 70,2 FEIR ZREE AL AR (7
Company

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

Name of Director Capacity s ERIEL

EEpE EEME REBE
(Note 1)
(B=E)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,058,000

RENFES L EmEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 529,000

SRR L BEHEEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 952,200

SREF A& BEHEEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 581,900

MRELE EmEAA

AR EIREIFR AN Gl FE T3 ([ 25
1ET ) ZEREEO. 108702 ZiEK

(c) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Chemical  (c)
Holdings Limited (“KCHL?”), the ultimate holding company
of the Company

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital

issued ordinary of KCHL

shares held HEFELET

Name of Director Capacity Fride &1 BRTRA

EEpE EEME HBERROEE ZHHBEDL

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 2,302,900 0.273
REIZE L BEHEEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 1,359,852 0.161
REIR S E BEHEEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 2,468,653 0.292
SREF SR BEHEEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 1,749,734 0.207
MRExTE BHEEAA

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 50,000 0.006
RRETE BEHEEAA

Ms. Chan Sau Chi Beneficial owner 10,000 0.001
BRF £/ A BEHEEAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued) ERZEinER 7

Long position (continued) E_E)
(@) Share options of KCHL (@ FEEE T 2 B
Interest in underlying
shares of KCHL
pursuant to share options
Name of Director Capacity BREREET
ESHSR BEME #ZE{c THER O ER
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 998,600
SREIZE S A EHBEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 1,271,600
SREIR S BEmEEA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 1,053,600
SREF S BHEEAA
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 589,600
MERExRE BEHBEAA

(e) Ordinary shares (“EEIC Shares”) in Elec & Eltek © KAEIEE B L G F 2% 2 B R
International Company Limited (“EEIC”), a fellow FI([EEIC]) 2 Z@ e ([EEICHR 1 ])
subsidiary of the Company

Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Number of share capital

issued EEIC of EEIC

Shares held {5EEIC

Name of Director Capacity FTE B B 1TEEIC ERITRA
EEpA EEME KRG E ZERNBEI
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 281,400 0.16

SREIFEST A

BERfEBEA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)
Long position (continued)

U] Share options of EEIC

Name of Director

EEsA

Capacity
HEmtE

EREZROER 2)

RE(E)

0 EEIC.Z (B AR 1

Interest in underlying
EEIC Shares pursuant
to share options
BrRBREET
AEBAEEICHR 17 fE 2
(Note 2)

(HtE2)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
SREIFE ST A

Notes:

BEmfBA

None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates
Limited are held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no
rights to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general
meeting of Kingboard Laminates Limited and have practically no
rights to dividends or to participate in any distribution on winding
up.

The interests were by virtue of an aggregate of 811,000 share
options of EEIC accepted by the Director on 24 June 2005. The
number of share options were subsequently adjusted pursuant
to the 1 for 5 bonus issue by EEIC effected on 13 October 2005.
The relevant Director is entitled to subscribe for EEIC Shares at
an adjusted subscription price of US$2.033 per EEIC Share. The
share options are exercisable in whole or in part at a staggered
manner within 5 option periods, commencing on 26 November
2006, 26 November 2007, 26 November 2008, 26 November
2009 and 26 March 2010 respectively and all ending on 24 May
2010.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors

nor their respective associates had any interests or short

positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures

of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31
December 2009.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTIONS
Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, no share option was granted pursuant to the
scheme and no share option was outstanding as at 31 December
2009.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2009, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in respect
of certain Directors, the following shareholders had notified the
Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of
the Company.

Long position
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company (“Shares”)

FERR

RZZEZAF+-A=1—H REARRRES
KB (GG F3361RATE 2 T BRIRBLMATA

B TR EXEES TES 2RI

B

HMEARRRENAR R D EITRA 2 1B -

RE
KR mFRENEOAO0ETT.Z BB ([R5 ])

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
capital of the

Company
Number of EARAF
Name of shareholder Notes Nature of interest issued Shares held BETRARZ
REREMR BisE EaEtE FEERTROBE OB
Hallgain Management Limited (‘Hallgain®)  (a) Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05
ERWAA
(b) Interest of controlled 2,145,764,000 71.53
corporations
REERIERER
KCHL Beneficial owner 15,757,500 0.53
BET ERWAA
() Interest of controlled 2,130,006,500 71.00
corporations
RERIEEER
Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) Beneficial owner 2,015,000,000 6717
ERMAA
(d) Interest of a controlled 115,006,500 3.83

corporation
Xl ERR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
Long position (continued)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company (“Shares”)

(continued)
Notes:
(@) At 31 December 2009, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to

exercise, or control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more
of the voting power at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its
directors are not accustomed to act in accordance with any shareholder’s
direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam
Ka Po, being Directors, are also directors of Hallgain.

(b) The interests are held by KCHL directly and indirectly. KCHL is owned as
to approximately 30.97% of the entire issued capital of KCHL by Hallgain as
at 31 December 2009.

(@] The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of KCHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is
also a director of Jamplan.

(d) The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok
Wa and Cheung Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2009.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2009, save for
the deviation that the non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms
pursuant to code provision A.4.1 of the Code. Notwithstanding
the aforesaid deviation, all the Directors (including the non-
executive Director and independent non-executive Directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
Company’s annual general meeting in compliance with the
Company’s Articles of Association. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for Security Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”). Following a specific enquiry of all Directors, each
of the Director has confirmed he or she has complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code and the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2009.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent for the purposes of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KCHL's
subsidiaries other than the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“KCHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable to the
KCHL Group was 23%. The percentage of sales attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers combined was less than 30%
of the Group’s total revenue. During the year, the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and the five
largest suppliers combined were 24% and 61% respectively. The
percentage of purchase attributable to KCHL, one of the Group’s
five largest suppliers’ was 8%.

At 31 December 2009, KCHL, a shareholder holding more than
5% of the Company’s share capital, had a beneficial interest
in one of the Group’s five largest customers and one of the
Group’s five largest suppliers. Save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers
or suppliers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following connected transactions with its
connected persons during the year:

(@) The Group purchased chemicals and drill bits
from the KCHL Group amounting to approximately
HK$352,956,000 and HK$17,387,000, respectively.

(b) The Group sold laminates and related upstream
component materials to the KCHL Group amounting to
approximately HK$906,415,000 and HK$988,271,000
respectively.

In addition, the Group also provided drilling services to the KCHL
Group amounting to approximately HK$206,603,000 during the
year.

KCHL is the Company’s ultimate holding company. As such,
the KCHL Group is deemed to be connected persons of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The auditor
of the Company has reported its factual findings on these
procedures to the board of Directors. The independent non-
executive Directors, for the purpose of Rule 14A.37 of the
Listing Rules, have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions and the report of the auditor and have confirmed
that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
entered by the Group in the ordinary course of its business, on
normal commercial terms, and in accordance with the terms
of the agreements governing such transactions that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The purchase of chemicals and drill bits from the KCHL Group
during the year did not exceed the aggregate annual cap for
the financial year ended 31 December 2009 approved by the
shareholders of the Company of HK$392,000,000, while the
sale of laminates and related upstream component materials and
provision of driling services to the KCHL Group during the year
did not exceed the aggregate annual caps for the financial year
ended 31 December 2009 of HK$3,834,000,000.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the relevant Director’s
experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business
of the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees. During the year
ended 31 December 2009, no share option was granted
pursuant to the Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association although there are no
restrictions against such rights under company laws in the
Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2009.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company will be proposed for approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wa
CHAIRMAN

1 March 2010
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Kingboard Laminates
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company. It is in the interest of the
stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to operate
in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-
regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

During the year under review, the Board has complied with the
provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) except with a deviation from code
provision A.4.1 of the Code. Under code provision A.4.1 of the
Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. Currently, the non-executive director
and the independent non-executive directors of the Company
were not appointed for specific terms but are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. In addition
to the Code, which is mandatory in nature, the Board also
observes certain recommended best practices (“Recommended
Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
and has adopted certain Recommended Best Practices which
are suitable to the Company’s current situation. The Board wiill
continuously enhance the corporate governance standard of the
Company by reference to the Recommended Best Practices
whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions adopted by the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Group and is entrusted with the responsibility
to supervise the management of the business and the
affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted internal
guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the
Board approves the Group’s strategic plan, annual
budget, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s financial
performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s
business and ensures implementation of appropriate
systems to manage these risks. Daily business operations
and administrative functions of the Group are delegated
to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by
the Company Secretary as delegated by the Chairman
of the Board and distributed to the Board members
within reasonable time before the meetings. Relevant
meeting papers are also sent to directors well before
the meetings, informing them of the background and
giving explanation on matters to be brought before the
Board. All directors are given the opportunity to include
matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To ensure the
directors make decisions objectively and in the interests
of the Company, the Company’s articles of association
provide that any director shall abstain from voting on any
resolutions in which he or his associates is/are materially
interested nor be counted in the quorum of the meeting.
Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board meetings
are sent to all directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the board
meeting and are kept by the Company Secretary.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A. ER®)
The Board (continued) EEg(#)
During the year under review, the Board had held 4 REBEFERN  EFTRITITNASE
meetings and the directors’ attendance at Board meetings EENESLRNESTEEGEHE Y
and Board committees’ meetings were as follows: JERLEEAAT ¢

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
- ERZEE REZEE FMZES
83 83 =E 23
Number of Meeting 1] 4 3 1 1
Executive directors HITEE
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(ERE) 4 - - -
Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) 3R B3 (2 S48 ) 4 - - -
Cheung Kwok Ping R B 4 - - -
Lam Ka Po HERE 4 - - -
Cheung Ka Ho RRF 4 - - -
Chan Sau Chi BAEL 4 - - -
Liu Min 28 4 - - -
Zhou Pei Feng g 4 - - -
Non-executive director HHTEE
Lo Ka Leong ER= 4 3 1 1
Independent non-executive directors BUHRITEE
Chan Charnwut Bernard FREE 3 3 1 1
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRia 4 3 1 1
Leung Tai Chiu 2 4 3 1 1
Mok Yiu Keung, Peter KR 4 3 1 1
The directors have observed the importance of directing EEAREETHTHEEREEARA
and supervising the Company’s affair at a more regular EHZEEM KEHAREBESRE §$
interval. After consulting all directors, Board meetings S ERFEESBBTERITSH
have been preliminarily scheduled to be held at quarterly REFETPIIRMNRGE -

interval and no less than 4 times in the coming year.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)
Division and responsibilities
The Board of the Company is headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of
the Company. The roles of the Chairman and Managing
Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the
following:

° schedule meetings that enable the Board to
perform its duties and responsibilities and
to ensure all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner without
interfering the Company’s operations;

o prepare meeting agenda after consultation with
the Managing Director;

o exercise control over quality, quantity and
timeliness of the flow of information between
Management and the Board and to ensure
decisions are made on a fully informed basis by
the directors; and

° assist in ensuring compliance with the Listing
Rules and the Company’s guidelines on corporate
governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the
overall strategic planning and day-to-day management of
the Group.
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34

DIRECTORS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises thirteen members, four
of whom are independent non-executive directors who
are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of directors of the Company.
At least one of the independent non-executive directors
possesses appropriate professional qualifications (or
accounting or related financial management expertise)
as required by the Listing Rules. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Chan Sau Chi

Liu Min

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive directors
Chan Charnwut Bernard

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Leung Tai Chiu

Mok Yiu Keung, Peter

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr.
Cheung Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho.

Each of the non-executive directors (including the
independent non-executive directors) was appointed for
an initial term of two years commencing in November
2006. The appointment of each of the non-executive
directors will continue after initial term unless terminated
by three months’ notice in writing served by either party
to the other. Currently, the non-executive director and the
independent non-executive directors were not appointed
for specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation
and are eligible for re-election. The Board considers that
although such arrangement deviates from code provision
A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his
independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

The Board comprises directors who collectively provide
core competencies, sales and marketing experience
and technical knowledge in laminates and its upstream
materials, administration and management experience in
the PRC factories, financial and accounting skill, as well
as in-house advice to comply with international laws and
regulations. The current Board size of thirteen directors
with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature
and scope of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new directors to the Board. Any director
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or
as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after
appointment. The appointment of directors are fixed for
a specified term, but at every annual general meeting
one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by
shareholders. The directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned
above shall be taken into account in calculating the total
number of directors for the time being but shall not be
taken into account in calculating the number of directors
who are to retire by rotation. All directors eligible for
re-election shall have their biographical details made
available to the shareholders to enable them to make an
informed decision on their re-election. Any appointment,
resignation, removal or re-designation of director shall be
timely disclosed to the shareholders by announcement
and shall include in such announcement, the reasons
given by the director for his resignation.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each director to
keep abreast of his responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every director is required
to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs
of the Board and the material matters of the Company
and to serve the Board with such degree of care and
due diligence given his own expertise, qualification and
professionalism.

Every newly appointed director shall receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the
first occasion of his appointment. All directors shall
be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a
proper understanding of the operations and the business
of the Company and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under the applicable laws and regulations.
The Board has a procedure for directors, either individually
or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, to take
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the directors
to make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance
coverage for directors’ and officers’ liability has been
arranged against possibility of legal action to be taken
against the directors and the management.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation
to furnish the Board with complete, adequate and
appropriate information in such form and such quality in a
timely manner so as to enable them to make an informed
decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities
as directors of the Company. All the directors are given
separate and independent access to the Company’s
senior management.

All the directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company Secretary, whose role includes
ensuring that Board procedures are observed and
followed, and that applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is
responsible for drafting minutes and keeping minutes
records which can be accessed by any director for
inspection.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which comprises four
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Chan Charnwut Bernard (Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue
Kwong, Michael, Mr. Leung Tai Chiu and Mr. Mok Yiu
Keung, Peter, to formulate policies and procedures for
determining the remuneration of directors and senior
management and other remuneration related matters. The
Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities
delegated by the Board, including the following specific
duties:

o formulate the framework or Board policy for
determining the remuneration of the Company’s
Board and senior management. The objective
of such policy should ensure that members of
the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage
enhanced performance and are, in a fair and
reasonable manner, rewarded for their individual
contributions to the success of the Company;

° recommend specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances,
bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive payments,
and share options, if any, for each executive
director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is
designated to consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked
pay schemes operated by the Company, taking
into account remuneration and employment
conditions within the industry and in comparable
companies; and

o recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-
executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) taking into account factors
such as effort, time spent and responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each
individual director, the Remuneration Committee will
consider his qualification and experience, specific duties
and responsibilities assigned to him by the Board and the
prevailing market packages available for similar position.
The emoluments of the directors on a named basis for
the year under review is set out on pages 101 to 102 in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. Review
and comparison in terms of directors’ emoluments
package and net profits of the Group are made from
time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all
such factors, the Remuneration Committee would make
recommendation on the remuneration package for each
director after consultation with the Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee had convened one meeting to consider the
remuneration packages for all directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the Company’s account which gives a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company. The
Company deploys appropriate and sufficient resources to
prepare unaudited half-yearly account and audited yearly
account. Senior management is required to present and
explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Company to the Audit
Committee and the Board and respond to the queries
and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and the
Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 45 to 46 of this
annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Internal controls

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the
key elements of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place,
including the documentation of key processes,
procedures and rules relating to the delegation of
authorities. These allow the monitoring of controls
and restrict the unauthorised use of the Group
assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take
responsibility for important business functions.
Annual appraisal procedures have been
established to maintain standards of performance;

o monthly business and financial reports are
prepared, providing relevant, timely, reliable and
up-to-date financial and other information; budget
variances are investigated as appropriate; and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly
to the Audit Committee, is in place to determine
whether the above procedures are properly carried
out.

The Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of
the above internal control system of the Group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management and will conduct such review at least once
a year, so as to ensure the shareholders’ investment and
the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance
of the Audit Committee, the present internal controls and
risk management processes are satisfactory for the nature
and size of the Group’s operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Internal controls (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has
established an internal audit team that reports directly
to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team will
independently audit various functions, operations and
systems existed in the Company according to their
weight of significance to the Company as well as the
priority list recommended by the Audit Committee. The
internal audit team will prepare an internal audit report
highlighting the deficiencies and weaknesses in existing
audit functions, operations and systems for discussion by
the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on these
findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference setting out duties,
responsibilities and authorities delegated to them by the
Board of directors. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of
the system of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope and results of the internal audit
procedures;
o review the statement of financial position and

income statement of the Company and the
consolidated statement of financial position and
income statement of the Group and submit them
to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their
findings on their evaluation of the Company’s
system of internal controls for the purpose of
assisting the Board in developing policies that
would enhance the controls and operating
systems of the Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the
adequacy of internal controls of the Group as part
of the standard procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness
and the independence and objectivity of the Company’s
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Audit Committee
will review the independence of the Company’s auditor,
the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies
non-audit services to the Company, the Committee
will keep the nature and extent of such services under
review, seeking to balance between the maintenance of
objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group were as follows:

Nature of services RISHEE

Audit services ZERTE
Non-audit services IERZE RS

() Tax services (i) IS AR TS
(i) Other services (i) H At A7

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the
non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor
and concluded that in their opinion such services did
not affect the independence of the auditor. The Board
has appointed an accountant to be responsible for the
accounting and financial matters of the Group and the
Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial
and relevant information which enable them to discharge
their audit committee function effectively and efficiently.
Besides internal assistance being available, the Audit
Committee may request for assistance and advice from
external auditors as and when they think necessary at
the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee
shall meet with external auditor without the presence
of executive directors to discuss the Group’s financial
reporting and any major and financial matters arising
during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:—

° to investigate any matter within its written terms of
reference;

° to have full access to and co-operation by the
management;

° to have full discretion to invite any director or

executive officer to attend its meetings; and

o to have reasonable resources to enable it to
discharge its functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit
Committee are appropriately qualified to discharge their
responsibilities and at least one member has accounting
and related financial management expertise or experience.
The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Chan
Charnwut Bernard, Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr.
Mok Yiu Keung, Peter and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters, including a review of the
audited annual financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2009.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company'’s articles of association set out matters
which are specifically reserved to the Board for its
decision. Executive directors normally meet on an
informal basis every two weeks and participate in senior
management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast
of the latest operations and performance of the Group
and to monitor and ensure the management carry out
the directions and strategies set by the Board correctly
and appropriately. Clear instructions are given to the
management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of
the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees,
namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, each chaired by different
independent non-executive director, to assist the Board
in discharging functions specific to each committee. Each
Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements
which are substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members
who are independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman), Mr. Chan
Charnwut Bernard, Mr. Leung Tai Chiu and Mr. Mok Yiu
Keung, Peter. According to the written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of
the Nomination Committee include:

° regularly review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board with regard to any adjustments that are
deemed necessary;

. review whether or not an independent non-
executive director is independent for the purpose
of the Listing Rules on annual basis;

° be responsible for identifying and nominating for
the approval of the Board, candidates to fill board
vacancies as and when they arise;
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

o assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
and the contribution by each individual director to
the effectiveness of the Board; and

o be responsible for re-nomination having regard
to the director’s contribution and performance,
including, if applicable, as an independent director.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
had convened a meeting for the nomination of directors
for re-election in the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. The Nomination Committee had resolved
that Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping,
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, Mr. Zhou Pei Feng and Mr. Mok Yiu
Keung, Peter, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
All the above-named directors were nominated by the
Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders. All directors are encouraged to attend
the general meetings to have personal communication
with shareholders. In annual general meeting, Chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each committee
are required to attend and answer questions from
shareholders in respect of the matters that they are
responsible and accountable for. The external auditor
is also required to be present to assist the directors in
addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. The
Company has also set up a public relations website
which enables the shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the
Group to the Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) provide good
opportunities for shareholders to air their views and
ask directors and management questions regarding
the Company. All shareholders of the Company receive
the annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and
EGM and other corporate communications in a form
chosen by each shareholder of the Company. The
notices are also published on the Company’s website at
www.kblaminates.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. A shareholder is
permitted to appoint any number of proxies to attend and
vote in his stead.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RE

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 47 to 135, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31
December 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

1 March 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement

~ 2
melEK
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —EENF+ - H=1—HI FZF

2009 2008
—EThE —ETENEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
FaE THET FAT

Revenue EEE 6 9,070,983 10,127,764
Cost of sales SHEMN A (6,519,431) (8,149,908)
Gross profit EH 2,551,552 1,977,856
Other income H A 8 56,574 48,385
Distribution costs AN =D (208,057) (187,934)
Administrative costs TR A (405,474) (427,918)
Discount on acquisition of additional W HiE—FN B AT

interest in a subsidiary FEIMER ZITRE 11,189 26,800
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AN ERE 2 RESE

investments 9 (156,367) -
Finance costs & RS 10 (55,477) (116,053)
Profit before taxation R 55 AL E ) 1,793,940 1,321,136
Income tax expense FriSHiFX 11 (128,117) (70,466)
Profit for the year INEE T 12 1,665,823 1,250,670
Profit for the year attributable to: KEEGFIELDEE -

Owners of the Company ZA/NEIES SN 1,648,031 1,203,804

Minority interests DE RS 17,792 46,3866

1,665,823 1,250,670

Earnings per share BREAET 15

Basic R HK$0.54958 T HK$0.4017% T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e ElEAR

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —EENF+ - H=1—HI FZF

2009 2008
—EThE T NF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
FaE THET T
Profit for the year KEE @A 12 1,665,823 1,250,670
Other comprehensive income: Hh2mEizs
Loss on cash flow hedges WM RER (26,407) (41,411)
Reclassification adjustments relating IR S e A
to transfer of cash flow hedges VEH 7 EF D fa A% 28,709 6,138
Fair value loss on available-for-sale AERERE 2
investments NHERE (156,017) -
Impairment on available-for-sale A ERERE
investments 156,367 -
Exchange differences arising on EinEEZ2mE%Em
translation to presentation currency EECENZ5E 9,136 368,471
Other comprehensive income for the year 784 [E Hfth 2 E iz 11,788 333,198
Total comprehensive income for the year  ZN4F & & E 54258 1,677,611 1,583,868
Total comprehensive income EEWEBTEEGME -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATFFEBA 1,658,767 1,489,197
Minority interests DERRRER 18,844 94,671
1,677,611 1,583,868
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e I F RN R

At 31 December 2009 R —EZEAF+ -H=+—H

2009 2008
—EThE —ETNF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Ff=E FHET FAT
Non-current assets BN EE
Investment properties "EME 16 56,873 42,005
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BE NERE 17 5,348,082 5,907,816
Prepaid lease payments A ERIE 18 296,420 266,993
Available-for-sale investments AfHERE 19 403,748 19,800
Non-current deposits JERBE 20 51,775 78,249
Deferred tax assets EEFTEEE 21 5,964 4,675
Goodwill kS 22 238 238
6,163,100 6,319,776
Current assets mBNEE
Inventories FE 23 1,815,784 1,668,934
Trade and other receivables and B 5 hEMEWERRK
prepayments RIBFOR 24 2,619,806 1,941,997
Bills receivables A EE 24 725,691 438,944
Prepaid lease payments FEHEERE 18 5,542 4,712
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  JEUE RMMBATIZIE 26 323,070 182,406
Derivative financial instruments PTHESBIA 27 - 3,027
Taxation recoverable B EE R 7,063 7,063
Bank balances and cash WITHB LIRS 25 2,039,662 2,237,499
7,536,618 6,484,582
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables Bo5REMEMRR 28 892,435 837,719
Bills payables iARES 28 270,348 319,765
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FENRBERRBATIZIE 26 20,040 10,818
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTA 27 11,628 255
Taxation payable FESITIR 264,088 233,673
Bank borrowings — amount due RITEE ——FAREIH
within one year 238 29 1,030,516 1,078,370
2,489,055 2,480,600
Net current assets BB EFE 5,047,563 4,003,982
Total assets less current liabilities BELERRDEGE 11,210,663 10,323,758
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 45 B & AR 0 3=
At 31 December 2009 R —EZE L F+—H=+—H

2009 2008
ZEEhE —TTNF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt e THT FHIT
Non-current liabilities E S EIN=
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE 21 1,816 316
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 27 32,971 35,273
Bank borrowings — amount due BITEE - —F1%&
after one year RIHE > 3hI8 29 1,963,348 2,130,024
1,998,135 2,165,613
9,212,528 8,158,145
Capital and reserves B AR K
Share capital &N 30 300,000 300,000
Reserves {1 8,027,709 6,968,942
Equity attributable to owners PA/NEIESFSIN
of the Company FE(E R 8,327,709 7,268,942
Minority interests DE R RS 884,819 889,203
Total equity BREEE 9,212,528 8,158,145

The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 135 were &#Z=@R T4 = A —HO#ERSETIRES
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 478 ZE %1358 v A MB®mE - Wl THESRR

March 2010 and are signed on its behalf by: xE= .
Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung
RENE REE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
= =
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y

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

nV'ﬁ

f"" BB

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —EZENF+ - A=+—HIFFZF

Attributable to owners of the Company

EXNGEZ N '
Investment
Share Share Translation revaluation ~ Hedging ~ Special ~ Statutory  Retained Minority Total
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
kx ROAR ERRHREEGRE HORE  RRURE  ERE  REEN fit VBBRER EIEE
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKG000  HKEOOD  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'00O
Tér  Thr  TEr  TEn T Tér  Tér  TEr  TEr  TEr TEn
(note31)  (noted)
(MfsEs1)  (Wska)
Balanceat 1 Janvary 2008 HZZEN\F-A-Hz&H 300000 1,097,104 510030 - - 757,689 6,185 4,068,737 6,739,745 854,661 7,594,406
Lossoncash flowhedges B4 REL AR - - - - ) . - ] -4
Exchange differences arising  ETEZ 25
on translation to f%@iz
presentation currency ERZR - - 320666 - - - - - 30866 47805 36847
Prof for the year REEAT - - - - - - - 1203804 1203804 46866 1,250,670
Transferto proftorlosson R4 RELRD
cash flow hedges BA%ER - - - - 6,138 - - - 6,138 - 6,138
Total comprehensive income. AE[E 2 EMiE 85
for the year - - 320,666 - (35,273) - - 1203804 1489197 94671 1,583,868
Acquisttion of addtional BB
interest in a subsidlary %EWE@ - - - - - - - - - (35215 (35.279)
Diidend paid tominorty ST FHBRE
shareholders ZIRE - - - - - - - - - (484 (24854)
Final dividend paid for the year BREZ-EZ+F+-F
ended 31 December 2007 =+-BIHFERHRE - - - - - - - (600,000)  (600,000) - (600,000)
Interim cvidend paid for the yeer EHEZ-3E\E+-A
ended 31 December 2008 =+—HI-FEHHRE - - - - - - - (360,000)  (360,000) - (360,000)
- - - - - - - (960,000 (960,000)  (60,129) (1,020,129
Balance at 31 December 2008 %_TT \F+2A
=t-BzE% 300000 1,097,104 830,69 - (85,273) 757,689 6,185 4312541 7268942 889203 8,158,145
Loss on cash fow hedges iﬁ%wzﬁwﬁ - - - - (26407) - - - [26407) - (26407)
Exchange differences arising M CEY
on translation to EEZ
presentation currency E AEE - - 8,084 - - - - - 8,084 1,062 9,13
Prof for the year TEEAT - - - - - - - 1648081 1648031 17,792 1,665,823
Transter to proftorlosson RIS RELHT
cash flow hedges 2A%Es - - - - 28709 - - - 28709 - 28709
Fair valug loss on avalable-for- AAHERENTEER
sale investments - - - (156,017) - - - - (156,017) - (186,017)
Impaiment on avaable-for-sale A HERERE
investments - - - 156,367 - - - - 156,367 - 156,367
Total comprehensive income A E2EREEE
for the year - - 8,084 350 2,302 - - 1648031 1,658,767 18844 1,677,611
Acquisiion of additional - E R AEES
interest in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (17.961)  (17,951)
Release upon disposal of ~ HEMBAABERE
Subsidiary - - (b14) - - - - 514 - - -
Diviclend paid to minority iﬁ ﬂ gRE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - (5,217) (5,217)
Final dividend paid for the year 2 TEE_ S \ETZA
ended 31 December 2008 =1— Eﬂ:ir AERE - - - - - - - (300,000) (300,000 - (300,000
Interim civicend paid for the year EEZ-BENE+Z A
ended 31 December 2009 =T—AIHEES Eﬁﬁx 8 - - - - - - - (300,000)  (300,000) - (300,000)
Transfer to reserve ERTEE - - - - - - 1849 (11,849) - - -
- - (514) - - - 1849 (611335)  (600,000)  (23228)  (623,228)
Balance at 31 December 2009 R-FTNF T~ 7
:Jr* 2pd53 300000 1,097,104 838,266 350 (82,971) 757,689 18034 5349237 8327,709 884819 9212628
Note: LiE=3
(@) Statutory fund, which is non-distributable, is appropriated from the profit (@ A DR ZEE BREDREPEARLME(MRIESR

) ([ E ) 2 BRERERERARRFBEKILZ
MERRZBBRZEMER

after taxation of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (other than Hong Kong) (“PRC”) under the applicable
laws and regulations in the PRC.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A i —1
meElRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —EENF+ - H=1—HI FZF

2009 2008
—EThE T NEF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before taxation 55 AL g ) 1,793,940 1,321,136
Adjustments for: FATIEBEL AR
Depreciation of properties, plant YE - BEREREZ
and equipment e 774,880 719,143
Release of prepaid lease payments AN HEEFRIERE D 7,061 4,712
Interest expenses and other FEF X MEAM
finance charges BhEE A 55,477 116,053
Impairment losses recognised on HE SR HAEUWERER
trade and other receivables R 2R (EEE 48,585 8,101
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AN ERE 2 REBE
investments 156,367 -
Loss on disposal and write off of HEMMEME - BE
properties, plant and equipment NEE 2 BB 3,874 608
Gain on fair value changes of WEWENTEES
investment properties 2 ek (9,095) (1,468)
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of EmEAE L AT E
commodity forward contracts )7 EE () 11,628 (2,454)
Gain on fair value changes of foreign SMERBIEHATE
currency forward contracts BE) oW = (318)
Discount on acquisition of additional U Bg — I B A A1EESN
interest in a subsidiary Py (11,189) (26,800)
Interest income MBI A (18,223) (21,871)
Operating cash flows before RetEEEEHRIZ
movements in working capital TERene 2,813,305 2,116,842
Increase in inventories FE#Em (166,155) (138,503)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other & 5 K E b FEULBR 31 &2
receivables and prepayments TR IR (5 HN) R (750,380) 1,032,374
(Increase) decrease in bill receivables  FEUKZEE (#40) 374 (286,747) 164,164
(Increase) decrease in amounts eSS i) =YNS /S
due from fellow subsidiaries (1 hn)E (140,664) 209,361
Increase (decrease) in trade and Z 5 M EAMENIRK
other payables #ANCRA) 90,167 (358,332)
Decrease in bills payables JERZ=ER A (49,417) (281,202)
Net increase in derivative financial PTAE SR T BEN
instruments Peitt 2,772 453
Increase in amounts due to fellow ENIEES N NI B R
subsidiaries N 9,222 6,776
Cash generated from operations QBT IRS 1,522,103 2,751,933
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EHBEENEH = (1,492)
Other taxes paid HibBHF A (97,512) (61,272)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REXBABREFHE
ACTIVITIES 1,424,591 2,689,169
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows & &8RE&RER

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

2009 2008
—EETNE ZEENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P 5E F#ET BT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEW
Purchase of properties, BEWE  WERREE

plant and equipment (237,109) (854,078)
Deposits paid for acquisition of EEME  BELEKE

properties, plant and equipment FritaT & (51,775) (78,197)
Prepaid lease payments made B EMEERE (37,190) -
Interest received ST B 18,223 21,871
Proceeds from disposal of properties,  HE&EWE - BE REE

plant and equipment FriS5/18 75,016 38,228
Proceed from disposal of a subsidiary & —FRIHIE A7)

FriS3kIA 34 20,074 -

Purchase of available-for-sale EEHENERE

investments (539,965) -
Consideration paid for acquisition U B8 — IR /B A A ZE A

of additional interest in a subsidiary B 2R E (6,762) (8,475)
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition WHEH B AREL 2

of subsidiaries BERNFEE 33 = 20,280
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXEKFA

ACTIVITIES BHE R (759,488) (860,371)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank borrowings raised HIGIRITEE 1,163,313 1,164,018
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (1,377,843) (1,165,720)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BB B (600,000) (960,000)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders B A2

of subsidiaries DA R B (5,277) (24,854)
Interest and other finance charges paid B FI 8 kA @& E M (55,477) (116,083)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING REEEN T A

ACTIVITIES BHEHE (875,284) (1,102,609)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH BRE&RBELSZEWORL)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IR EE (210,181) 726,189
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUzEEeRES

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR ZE8Y 2,237,499 1,471,742
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERSEHT

RATE CHANGES 12,344 39,568
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZASRASEEY -

AT THE END OF THE YEAR, BRTHBRRSE

REPRESENTING BANK BALANCES

AND CASH 2,039,662 2,237,499
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —EENF+ - H=1—HI FZF

1.

54

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan
(BVI) Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands and its ultimate holding company
is Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (“KCHL”), a
company which is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the section
headed “Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 3.

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi (“RMB”)
while the consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which the management of
the Company considered is more beneficial for the users
of the consolidated financial statements.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied a number
of new and revised Standards, Amendments and
Interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA").

Except as described below, the adoption of the new
and revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
current or prior accounting periods.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation
and disclosure only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology
changes (including revised titles for the financial
statements) and changes in the format and content of the
financial statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has not resulted in
a redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments (see
note 7).

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures
required in relation to fair value measurements in respect
of financial instruments which are measured at fair value.
The amendments also expand and amend the disclosures
required in relation to liquidity risk. The Group has not
provided comparative information for the expanded
disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision
set out in the amendments.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

ERAREREETZERME R

BEA((FRMEREEN )
FERIRBE M REBITETEY

TR

BRGEERIE 1 (= FFLFHEEET)

B E#ZZE5)

ARG ENE1R(ZFTLFEER) S

EMERE (RRERABRENEE) R

MBHRREARATES)

BB AR ERES A &

E BB LR AR ERsR R — BN E R
WA EHANEBMEHEITEBHRD (R
FE7) e

BT ABFNE (BB ERHERET
HeMTA - KEMEFTA))

ERMERRERNETR(ERTAN)BAAR
FEFENEBTARTVEFEMTNHHR
T o RFEAATBARETRBEZR
RATE R - REZFEIAMEMNGEER
3 - AN EY R H G EAREFEW
LEBE RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44

56

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting the reported
results and/or financial position

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007) Borrowing costs

In previous years, the Group expensed all borrowing
costs that were directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset when
they were incurred. HKAS 23 (Revised 2007) removes
the option previously available to expense all borrowing
costs when incurred. The adoption of HKAS 23 (Revised
2007) has resulted in the Group changing its accounting
policy to capitalise all such borrowing costs as part of the
cost of the qualifying asset. The Group has applied the
revised accounting policy to borrowing costs relating to
qualifying assets for which the commencement date for
capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009 in accordance
with the transitional provisions in HKAS 23 (Revised
2007). As the revised accounting policy has been
applied prospectively from 1 January 2009, this change
in accounting policy has not resulted in restatement of
amounts reported in respect of prior accounting periods.

In the current year, borrowing costs of HK$3,464,000
were capitalised as part of the cost of a manufacturing
plant. Profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 has
therefore been increased by HK$3,464,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z2 —EENF+=-A=+—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new or
revised Standards, Amendments or Interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of
improvements to HKFRSs in 2008 !

ERAHMEBREEIICEEMES
WER([FEEMERIRER |)
(%)

AEEIEITAER T EBMEHRE
R FTIE RAIERT VAR ~ ERT AR o

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 9

HK(FRIC*) — INT 14
(Amendment)

HK(FRIC) - INT 17

HK(FRIC) - INT 19

Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009 2

Related party disclosures ©

Consolidated and separate financial
statements !
Classification of right issues

Eligible hedged items !

Additional exemptions for first-time
adopters 3

Limited exemption from comparative
HKFRS 7 disclosures for first-time
adopters ®

Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions 2
Business combinations !

Financial instruments 7
Prepayments of a minimum funding
requirement ©

Distributions of non-cash assets to

owners !

Extinguishing financial liabilities with
equity instruments 5

B R RE EEMBERREFS
CHEN, EPA TR
TN\FRMZER
B R R A
Z— b
BB ERRE —EFNERHNE
CHEN, RS ERIRAER 2
B2
BRI ERE24R  BREALTRES
(&es])
BEGHEAER FRARBUMBBRE
(BIEFT)
EEGRERERE  fikzoB
CHEY,
BRGIEREN ABEREMIRR
CHIRN
BEWEHERENE1R BRRBE 2B
CHEN, s
FRM R RE EEM B ERRE
FRERTX) FTFHERIRAE
REARHATZ
BRE#RS
BTG HRLERFER SERSEERNT
SCHEN, ANHKZH
ERMBRREFEI XHA0H
(#1E5T)
EFRMBRREFES SHMTE

B (BRI %R REESBREM
EHREZEE) HIES
—REE145%

CCHES!

HE (BRI HRR DELGTEB AR
EAREZES) GEE
—REE1THR

BE (BRI BRR AR T RIS Rt
EHREZEEY) A&
—RBE19%R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

58

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting treatment for business combination for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial assets and will be effective from 1 January 2013,
with earlier application permitted. The Standard requires
all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be measured at either amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that (i) are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows and (i) have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9
might affect the classification and measurement of the
Group’s financial assets.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009, HKAS 17 Leases has been amended in relation to
the classification of leasehold land. The amendments will
be effective from 1 January 2010, with earlier application
permitted. Before the amendments to HKAS 17, lessees
were required to classify leasehold land as operating
leases and presented as prepaid lease payments in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
amendments have removed such a requirement.
Instead, the amendments require the classification of
leasehold land to be based on the general principles set
out in HKAS 17, that are based on the extent to which
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased
asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. The application
of the amendments to HKAS 17 has no effect on the
classification and measurement of the Group’s leasehold
land.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate
that the application of the other new and revised
Standards, Amendments or Interpretations will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment
properties and certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition and up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, incomes and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

On acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries,
goodwill arising is calculated as the difference between
the consideration paid for the additional interest and the
carrying amount of the net assets of the subsidiaries
attributable to the additional interest acquired. If, after
reassessment, the Group’s additional interest in the net
assets of the subsidiaries exceeds the consideration
paid for the additional interest, the excess is recognised
immediately as income in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FE®:REw)

(continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination,
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwiill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwiill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment (other than properties,
plant and equipment under construction) used in
the production of goods or supply of services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
properties, plant and equipment other than properties,
plant and equipment under construction over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method
(see note 17 for the depreciation rates per annum of the
items of properties, plant and equipment).

Properties, plant and equipment under construction,
representing properties, plant and equipment in the
course of construction for production or for its own
use purposes, are carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Properties, plant and equipment under
construction is classified to the appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment (continued)
Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course
of development for production or for administrative
purposes, the leasehold land component is classified as a
prepaid lease payment and amortised over a straight-line
basis over the lease term. During the construction period,
the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land is
included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when
they are in the location and condition necessary for them
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less
all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred
in marketing, selling and distribution.

Impairment losses on assets (other than goodwill
(see the accounting policies in respect of
goodwill))

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than goodwill
(see the accounting policies in respect of
goodwill)) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, in which case, the entire contract is treated as
a finance lease and accounted for as properties, plant
and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease
payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in
land are accounted as operating leases and amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis, except for
those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under fair value model.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences arising
on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and
will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income,
in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (the translation reserve).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired arising on an acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sales, are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including state-managed pension schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from the profit as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductable
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not be reversed in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position when
the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into (i) financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), {ii)
loans and receivables and (iii) available-for-sale financial
assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies
adopted in respect of each category of financial assets
are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial
assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified as
held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, bills receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, non-current deposits and bank balances
and cash) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. (See accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets
at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve, until
the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in investment revaluation reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss. (See accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
the reporting period subsequent to initial recognition.
(See accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include significant financial difficulty of
the issuer or counterparty; or default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or it becomes probable
that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the credit period and observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
and other receivables are considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses were
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through the consolidated income statement
to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are
generally classified into financial liabilities at FVTPL and
other financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The Group’s financial liabilities at FVTPL comprise
financial liabilities held for trading. A financial liability is
classified as held for trading if:

o it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, bills payables, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair values at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated
and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
deemed as financial assets held for trading or financial
liabilities held for trading and are classified as current
assets or current liabilities.

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments
(primarily interest rate swap contracts) to hedge its
exposure against changes in interest rate on bank
porrowings. At the inception of the hedging relationship,
the Group documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as other gain or
losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)

Cash flow hedge (continued)

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve)
are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the
hedged item is recognised in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group
revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain
or loss accumulated in equity at that time remains in
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction
is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees of the
Group

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant
date when the share options granted vest immediately,
with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts
receivables for goods sold and services provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts, returns and
sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title has passed.

Service income for drilling services is recognised when
services are provided.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset excluding financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the bank
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5a.

Categories of financial instruments

of
5a. SEMTAER

2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T T
Financial assets MEEE
FVTPL - Held for trading HEEE BRI ATERA
Bz - 3,027
Loans and receivables B EUER R
— trade and other receivables —E 5 RE MR 2,213,714 1,790,321
— bills receivables — B EE 725,691 438,944
— amounts due from fellow — R R R B AR
subsidiaries HIB 323,070 182,406
— bank balances and cash —IRTTEMREIR S 2,039,662 2,237,499
— non-current deposits —EREEI 2 51,775 78,249
5,353,912 4,727,419
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 403,748 19,800
Financial liabilities MERE
FVTPL - Held for trading HEEE RIR AT ERTA
b=k 11,628 255
Derivative instruments in HaEH e R
designated hedge ZOTHETA
accounting relationships 32,971 35,273
Amortised cost B HA AN
- trade and other payables — B 5 REMBIRR 676,827 696,725
— bills payables —ERRIE 270,348 319,765
— amounts due to fellow —ENREREMB AR
subsidiaries FIE 20,040 10,818
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 2,993,864 3,208,394
3,961,079 4,235,702
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 455
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EE N F+ - H=+—HI F/ZF

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, bills receivables,
non-current deposits, bank balances and cash,
available-for-sale investments, amounts due
from (to) fellow subsidiaries, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings and bills payables.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. Approximately 20%
(2008: 19%) of the Group’s sales are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entity making the sale,
whilst almost 63% (2008: 49%) of purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the group
entity’s functional currency.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities at the end of reporting period are
disclosed in respective notes. The management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign
currency risk should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. &#MIR#)
5b. Financial risk management objectives and 5b. H¥RABREEEEREEE)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) SR (&)
Currency risk (continued) HEERR(E)
Sensitivity analysis BRES T

82

The Group mainly exposes to fluctuation against
foreign currencies of United States dollars
and Japanese Yen. The following table details
the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2008: 10%)
increase and decrease in RMB, the group entities’
functional currency, against the relevant foreign
currencies. 10% (2008: 10%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for
a 10% (2008: 10%) change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes trade and
other receivables, bills receivables, available-
for-sale investments, bank balances, trade and
other payables, bills payables as well as bank
borrowings. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit for the year where RMB
strengthen 10% (2008: 10%) against the relevant
currency. For a 10% (2008: 10%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax

NEEEZmMEETRABRINE
FEB o TRFMLAEEHARE
(REERMINEEEE) X ABRIINE
FFEE10% (ZFZT)\EF : 10%) BB
BE o 10%(ZZTTN\F : 10%) 5
AEERNLEEBZEEABERIN
KERBANSRRE - TEEEE
EIHIETE R A B HEN TG - B
&9 1T 838 i R B R ey LA SN S B (B
WEKIER  HFEREZR10%(=
TTNF 10%) BBELIRAE -
FRESNTRIEE 5 R EAMELER
;o EIRERE - RITHES BHK
HMPEMAER - BAIERRRTE
o FHREARBLBAEEH
B10%(ZZZ\F : 10%) K - K
FERBREEMNGIEM - ZAR
B S BB E10%(Z T )\F ¢
10% ) - ATREET AN IR B 18 06
FERSERNTZE -

profit for the year.
2009 2008
—EThE T N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT T
United States Dollars ET (115,006) (104,768)
Japanese Yen HIE 2,919 9,015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B iR &R M+
For the year ended 31 December 2009 &% —EE N F+ - H=+—HI F/ZF

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. eI R
5b. Financial risk management objectives and 5b. BIEEKBEEREBZERBEKR (&)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) 5 e ()
Interest rate risk FZE @b

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to floating-rate bank borrowings (see
Note 29 for details of these borrowings). In relation
to these floating-rate borrowings, the Group aims
at keeping certain borrowings at fixed rates. In
order to achieve this result, the Group may enter
into interest rate swap contracts to hedge against
part of its exposure to potential variability of cash
flows arising from changes in floating rate (see
Note 27 for details). The management continuously
monitors interest rate fluctuation and will consider
further hedging interest rate risk should the need
arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related to the
fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s
bank borrowings.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate
short term bank deposits. The directors consider
the Group’s exposure of the short-term bank
deposits to interest rate risk is not significant as
interest bearing bank balances are within short
maturity period.

REBBZEBTEEAZBRESR
EMNEEAR(ZEEEFBRME
29) - RRFZEMEEMS - ~5%
EH e TEEFRRFEE
BEBWER  AEBLEGELF
KIEA L) - DR EZ B EEm
EEZHGREBEEH(FER
MizE27) - BIEERFEETNERK
B WA EREREERE—TY
SRR ER -

REBAZTBEENNERLRD
FHiE - RAMERDESRRER
—ff - AEENERERENER
FERAFERBERXINEEIRITH
ERBRBDNTERM -

B ERARIRITAER 2 IRITHISF
TRE) - AEEZRITERETIR
SREFNEE o PN - ANEEE
XEEHRFERBBRTFREEZ
NEEMNERRE - EFRA - BHR
FHRIRITASZ BIAEAREEE - 1)
N E G BB SR TIF SRR 2 Fi =&
ERRITERX °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5.

84

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for interest bearing bank balances and bank
borrowings as well as interest rate swap contracts
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2008: 100 basis points) increase or 10
basis points (2008: 100 basis points) decrease
are used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonable

possible change in interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2008:
100 basis points) higher and all other variables

were held constant, the Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2009 would decrease by
HK$6,123,000 (2008: decrease by
HK$13,392,000). This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its interest bearing bank balances and

variable-rate borrowings; and

° the debit side hedging reserve would
decrease by HK$15,128,000 (2008:
decrease by HK$35,034,000) mainly as
a result of the changes in the fair value of

interest rate swap contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 10 basis points (2008:
100 basis points) lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2009 would increase by
HK$1,225,000 (2008: increase by
HK$13,392,000). This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its interest bearing bank balances and
variable-rate borrowings; and

o the debit side hedging reserve would
increase by HK$3,026,000 (2008: increase
by HK$35,034,000) mainly as a result of
the changes in the fair value of interest rate
swap contracts.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity securities.
The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles and the Group has a team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

The Group has concentration risk on its available-
for-sale investments with 89.5% (2008: nil) of the
total available-for-sale investments concentrated
in a single financial institution which is listed in the
United States.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

86

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale
equity listed securities, which have been impaired
at the end of the reporting period, had been 10%

higher:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2009 would increase by
approximately HK$36,145,000 as a
result of the change in fair value of these
available-for-sale investments; and

° no change in investment revaluation

reserve for the year ended 31 December
2009 would be resulted.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale
equity listed securities, which have been impaired
at the end of the reporting period, had been 10%

lower:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2009 would decrease by
approximately HK$36,145,000 as a
result of the change in fair value of these
available-for-sale investments; and

° no change in investment revaluation

reserve for the years ended 31 December
2009 would be resulted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale
equity listed securities, which have not been
impaired at the end of the reporting period, had
been 10% higher:

° investment revaluation reserve would
increase by approximately HK$2,250,000
as a result of the change in fair value of
these available-for-sale investments; and

° no change in post-tax profit for the years
ended 31 December 2009 would be
resulted.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale
equity listed securities, which have not been
impaired at the end of the reporting period, had
been 10% lower:

° investment revaluation reserve would
decrease by approximately HK$2,250,000
as a result of the change in fair value of
these available-for-sale investments; and

° no change in post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2009 would be
resulted.

Commodity price risk

The Group was exposed to commodity price
risk from the outstanding commodity forward
contracts at the end of the reporting period. The
management consider that the price risks of these
derivative instruments are not significant to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

5.

88

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
board of directors has delegated the management
to be responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk in relation to bank deposits and
bank balances is considered minimal as such
amounts are placed with banks with good credit
ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk on trade and other receivables, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties
and customers other than group entities. However,
the Group is exposed to the concentration on
geographic and industry segment of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and laminate
industry. At 31 December 2009, approximately
92% (2008: 94%) of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are arising from the PRC and all are
from the laminates industry segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44

For the year ended 31 December 2009 gt2 —FEZE N F+—-H=+—HI F/F

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are
concentrated on a few counterparties. However,
the credit risk on amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries is limited because of the strong
financial background of the fellow subsidiaries.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. At 31 December
2009, the Group has available unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$4,920,257,000
(2008: HK$5,214,490,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities
and derivative financial instruments based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative
financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments settled on a net basis,
undiscounted net cash (inflows) outflows are
presented based on the contractual maturities as
the management consider that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. &mIR»®)
5b. Financial risk management objectives and 5b. BIEEKBEEREBZERBEKR (&)

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) HBELER (&)

Liquidity and interest risk tables MENE & M= @B
Weighted
average Over Over Over
effective 3 months 1 year 2years Total
interest butnotmore  butnotmore butnotmore undiscounted

rate Lessthan  thaniyear than2years than5years  cashflows Carrying

mEFY smonths ZEAML  -ENML  WEUNL it amount
RRfE Z@EAM GFEE-% BTEERE BTEEEE REREHE BEE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000

Fin TR TR TER TR TR

At 31 December 2009 Jut 2 82
+2B=t+-H
Non-Gerivative francial labiltes 474515 G5
Trade and other payables BARARERE - 42301 264,52 - - 676,827 676,827
Bils payebls EREE - 20348 - - - MM MM
Amounts cue to felow subsiciares ~ ERFIZNBATEE - 20,040 - - - 20,040 20,040
Bark borowings -variaberate S7EE -8 190 3u5m 132459 1,120,735 23447 200218 1840018
Bank borrowings - variable BikE-58
rate hedged WHERREOEA
by interest rate swap contracts 1.90 137,308 476,538 627,571 - 1,241,423 1,153,846
1,164,574 873,523 1,757,312 433447 4,228,856 3,961,079
Derivatves - net settment FATA-£E7E
Commody forward contracts EREHAY - 12,507 - - - 12,507 11,628
Interest rae swap contracts flEEEAL - 23 8847 25206 - 34306 3297

12830 8,847 25,006 - 46,908 44,599

90 Annual Report 2009 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
ZZNFFR BEEERERERAF



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44

B PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z2 —EENF+=-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.
5b.

eI )
HMBEREEEEREE (H)

Financial risk management objectives and 5b.
policies (continued)

TEEE 2R ()
mEES EFERRRK(E)

Liquidiity risk (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Weighted
average Over Over Over
effective 3 months 1 year 2years Total
interest butnotmore  butnotmore butnotmore undiscounted
rate Lessthan  thaniyear than2years than5years  cashflows Carrying
mEFY smonths ZEAML  -ENML  WEUNL it amount
ERtiE cERA EFEE-% BTEERE ETEEEE HoARER BEE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
Fin TR Firn TR TEL TR
At 31 December 2008 Jut 2182
tZR=t-R
Non-cerivative francial lailties /74 51HEE
Trade and other payables BAREMENER - 607,181 80,544 - - 696,725 696,725
Bils payables EfZE - 319,766 - - - 319,765 319,765
Amounts due to felow subsidiaries  ERRZHELAZUE - 10818 - - - 10818 10818
Bank borrowings - variable rate BiiE-E8 343 297,709 274,338 119,728 797,944 1489719 1,339,163
Bank borrowings - variable BikE-58
rate hedged HREESA R
by interest rate swap contracts 343 137,308 411923 621,136 908,370 2,078,737 1,869,231
1,372,781 775,808 740864 1706314 4506764 4285702
Derivatives - net settiement HAETA-#E7E
Commodty forward contracts BRiEEAY - (2634) - - - (2634) (2454)
Foreign curency forward contracts — SEREAH - (2) (282) - - (354) (318)
Iterest ate swap contracts flESE - 248 739 10,275 16,977 37097 %273
(260) 7,057 10275 16977 34,049 3,501
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. eMITR»)
5c.  Fair value 5c. Q¥E

The fair value of financial assets and financial MIEEERVEAGB 2 A TFERN

liabilities are determined as follows: THIBERE

. the fair value of financial assets and . B IEEGTR R GE I RAE
financial liabilities with standard terms and BRBTISEBE VB EE
conditions and traded on active liquid M BaBEz A TFEDRIZ
markets are determined with reference to EMGHRzEBEREE
quoted market bid prices and ask prices BET
respectively;

. the fair value of other financial assets and . BRERES 2 EERD -
financial liabilities (except for derivative) are RABBESRENT  BXE
determined in accordance with generally EMmBKEENTFAE
accepted pricing models based on (TEETEIR) ZAF
discounted cash flow analysis using prices B RBLREDTER
or rates from observable current market BHEMSRZS08 2 BEIE
transactions and dealer quotes for similar BER &

instruments as input; and

. the fair value of other derivative instruments o HEipTE T EAFETIRSR

are measured at fair value by reference
to the valuation provided by counterparty
financial institutions for these instruments.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5, @mMT&®

5c.

Fair value (continued) 5c.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels
1 to 2 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active market for identical assets or
liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted
prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

DYEE)
R E BRI KR 2 FlERT

=

TRERERAHEFEN SRR
AEBZERTAZAON - BEER
Sz R FESERE—BRE

o

. FE ABRIEERAE
R RIS RECREAR)
S ATE & -

« ETE BEEHEOH
B RAERAMEEE
(D) S (B 3 A
F18) BEFI S st B R
Fig 2 AFEEE -

Level 1 Level 2 Total
F—8 ot &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEr FET
At 31 December 2009 R_EENF+-A=1+—H
Available-for-sale financial assets At HEMTEEE
Listed equity securities LHRAES 383,948 - 383,048
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BRATEFABRZ
BiEaE
Derivative financial instruments TESmIA - 11,628 11,628
Derivative instruments in designated A TEFEHmE st
hedge accounting relationships BEREIITETE - 32,971 32,971

There were no transfers between level 1 and 2
during the year end 31 December 2009.

HE-TEAFTA=t—
RIEFE  E—BREZAZ
RBEAEA TR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t %2 —EZE /L F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

94

REVENUE

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable
by the Group from the sales of goods and drilling services
provided to outside customers, net of discounts, returns
and sales related taxes. Analysis for each year is as
follows:

BEx8a
EEBEAEEREEIIEPHEER
IREEFLRIS AT R FE Y B8 - SRTHn
REREBEEHEENTE SFHD
e

2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT

Sales of: PHE -
Glass epoxy laminates IREINIB M B IRE R 4,737,268 5,369,600
Paper laminates HERE R 2,437,934 2,625,700
Upstream materials abisz ) 1,141,535 1,223,700
Others Hih 754,246 908,764
9,070,983 10,127,764

Sales of laminates includes glass epoxy laminates and
paper laminates manufactured according to specifications
required by customers. Sales of upstream materials
includes sales of copper foil, epoxy resin, glass fabric and
bleached kraft paper. Others comprise drilling service
which involves the drilling of holes into the laminates
required by customers and sales of specialty resin and
other materials.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
with effect from 1 January 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure
standard that requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reports about components of the
Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”) for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and assessing their performance.
In contrast, the predecessor Standard (HKAS 14
Segment Reporting) required an entity to identify two sets
of segments (business and geographical) using a risks
and return approach. In the past, the Group’s operating
activity is attributable to a single reporting segment
focusing on sales of laminates and related products and
provision of drilling services. The application of HKFRS
8 has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s
reportable segment as compared with the primary
reportable segment determined in accordance with HKAS
14,
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 gt2 —FEZENF+—-H=+—HIF/Z

BUSINESS SEGMENTS (continued)

The reportable segment has been identified on the basis
of internal management reports prepared in accordance
with accounting policies conform to HKFRSs, that are
regularly reviewed by the executive directors of the
Company being the CODM of the Group.

Segment revenue and results

The executive directors regularly review revenue and
operating result derived from sale of goods and provision
of drilling services on an aggregated basis and consider
them as one single operating segment (see note 6 for
revenue analysis for major products and services).

The following is a reconciliation of segment profit to profit
for the year as disclosed in the consolidated income

B PRk MR

BB

B0 B RS TR E AR 1S R IR E R & 5T
BRRBEEBARATESTNRE TR
BERRETHRMNOANMHRSEREE -

DRPERER RE
HITESUNA R AEETHIEMHE
EmPiRHEBARBHNEERBRELEES
VR RE—LLEDE - (RMEemEE
ERMRIEEEBEAN)

DESHEF EZAWBE RO AFEEF 27
HIESUNNE

statement:
2009 2008
—EThE ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TF&T FAT
Segment profit 20 ) 1,811,001 1,223,870
Discount on acquisition of additional WS —FEIF B A A

interest in a subsidiary FBIMERSITE 11,189 26,800

Impairment loss on available-for-sale AN ERE 2R EEE
investments (156,367) -
Profit for the year AEE @A 1,665,823 1,250,670

Segment profit represents the profit earned without
allocation of discount on acquisition of additional interest
in a subsidiary and impairment loss on available-for-
sale investments. This is the measure reported to the
executive directors for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities
is presented as they are not regularly provided to the
executive directors.

Db M AERELZ Em A - B UEE —
BB A RRIMESITEM AT H L ERE
RMERBE - WHERTRITEEERER
DERFENE ZFTE®RS

HRDBEEXHHEE-RTGRNT
i%*m{/\ -EKIEE§U/_\_LB§F&/\_L

& -
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS (continued)

Other segment information

The Group principally operates in the PRC (country of
domicile) with revenue and profits derived mainly from its
operations in the PRC. An analysis of non-current assets
other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets
are not presented as they are substantially located in the
PRC.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

WERRBEIB2)

Hitr AR
AEEEBEH RN R E (R AT
M) EEBRENHERREREEL -
MR AREABH IS EE(TRESR
TEMEEBEARE)ARE - RIEES2
BRI -

RIEIN AR PR R B 2 EEE %

2009 2008

ZEENEF T N\F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

PRC (country of domicile) B (AR E 2 FriEih) 8,356,492 9,555,219
Other foreign countries: H M EIR

Other Asian countries S EEN L ETES 588,559 423,839

Europe M 70,256 98,562

America =M 55,676 50,144

9,070,983 10,127,764

Revenue from one of the Group’s customers amounting
to HK$2,101,289,000 (2008: HK$2,302,441,000) had
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s
revenue for the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 gt2 —FEZE N F+—-H=+—HI F/F

8.

10.

B PR MR

OTHER INCOME 8. Htulg A
2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Other income comprises: HEMRABTE
Rental income WA 11,616 12,147
Gain on fair value changes of WEMERN T EZS)
investment properties 2 Wes 9,095 1,468
Gain on fair value changes of SMEREA LA E
foreign currency forward contracts a) o W - 318
Interest income FE U A 18,223 21,871
Net exchange gain P& 3 Uz 558 11,023 9,157
Others HAtb 6,617 3,424
56,574 48,385
IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON AVAILABLE-FOR- 9. TWI{iH&EREZRKESE

SALE INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2009, impairment
loss on available-for-sale investments of HK$156,367,000
(2008: nil) was recognised as a result of significant or
prolonged decline in the fair values of certain of the
Group’s listed equity investments below their costs.

REBE-_TZNF+_A=+—HBLLFE
AN BRASEEFRENE T EIRARKRE
WAFEBEZNRAERERAE - At
SRS AT B8 & 2 R (E E51E 156,367,000
BIL(ZEE)N\F 8F) °

FINANCE COSTS 10. RUEFRKE
2009 2008
—EThE ZETN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T FAT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly HARRAFRNEEEE

repayable within five years RITEEZFE 30,232 109,915
Release of hedging reserve e 2 B 28,709 6,138
58,941 116,053

Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost i : B4 B BIREE
of qualifying assets AR EEF S (3,464) -
55,477 116,053

The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds
borrowed generally is 0.8% per annum (2008: nil).

EESERBMETYOERNEERESF
0.8%(=ZZFZNF : RE) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

11.

98

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FRRAX
2009 2008
ZEThE ZEEN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHIT
The amount comprises: AR
Hong Kong Profits Tax HEANER
Charge for the year REFFIATH - 8,254
Underprovision in previous years BEFERETR = 368
- 8,622
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions Hth B AR R 2 T8
Charge for the year REEHIAX 129,959 66,025
Overprovision in previous years BT FEEER (2,053) (1,454)
127,906 64,571
Deferred taxation IRIETIIE
Charge (Credit) for the year REE L (EE)
(Note 21) (Mt5E21) 211 (2,820)
Attributable to change in tax rate MEREF 2 TE = 93
211 (2,727)
128,117 70,466

On 26 June 2008, the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region passed the Revenue Bill
2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate from
17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for
both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11.
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation

Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC & -

subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.
25%

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation as follows:

FRGRBAST ()
BRECPEARANBEECEMFZTOR)
(TEEMBVE]) REXMEHEER
“TENE-A—BHE &
ARETURPEHMBARZRNER

o

0 FANEE 2 BB YRR AR E
2 EABEEH o

AREE 2 FIRERB TGN 2 SRR T -

2009 2008
—EThE —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T FAT

Profit before taxation FR 75 AR 1,793,940 1,321,136
Tax charge at the domestic income LAE AT 15 F R 25%

tax rate of 25% (2008: 25%) —TT)\F : 25%)

(Note a) FrEBIES T (MitTa) 448,485 330,284
Tax effect of expenses not deductible IAIEmM S e HRE B

for tax purpose 2SR 52,708 27,176
Tax effect of income not taxable LRI T = B ARBUA

for tax purpose 2R (10,977) (24,009)
Overprovision in previous years BT FERERE (2,053) (1,086)
Tax effect of tax holiday (Note b) R B2 (Miitb) (97,092) (31,254)
Tax effect of tax losses RIERHIBEE

not recognised IR 8,581 9,855
Utilisation of tax losses previously A SR ARIER

not recognised TiIAEE (9,255) (5,527)
Effect of different tax rates of REAM REER @

subsidiaries operating in KEHIB AR 2T E

other jurisdictions/areas MEZZE (32,649) (65,448)
Tax exempted profit (Note c) NG EFia A (MsEe) (229,631) (169,618)
Decrease in opening deferred HRBRERDSI B2

tax assets resulting from FURERIAEE

a decrease in applicable tax rate B = 93
Tax expense for the year KEEZ 2 FEHAY 128,117 70,466
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #E R T MIE

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t %2 —EZE /L F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

11.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

() The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2008: 25%) represents
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of which the Group’s
operations are substantially based.

(b) Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain

subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC are exempted from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from the first profit-
making year in which profits exceed any carried forward tax
losses followed by a 50% reduction in the income tax rate in the
following three years (“Tax Holiday”). The Tax Holiday enjoyed by
these subsidiaries will expire on or before 2012.

Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in areas
other than PRC and Hong Kong are exempted from profits tax.

11.

FrfsMBAZ &)

B 3E -
(@)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

EHATEHBE25%(ZTT)\F : 25%) 1K
REBAID EBAER 2 PR EMED

RFFEEEEREER - ARFETHEN
BAT B & EENFE (BVa M BaE s
ZBIBEIR) Rt R F AR AT B
FiSH - BB =F S HEER250% ([ %
B - ZEWBRRAZTAZLBBBR=F
—ZFRZBIEM °

RARNRIAFEREEAIMNE 2 ETFHBA
RIFTES 2 WM ER R TEH

12. FFERF

2009 2008
—EThF —TTN\E
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THT FAT

Profit for the year has been arrived INEE R A E £ 30

at after charging (crediting): (GFA)ATIER -
Depreciation of properties, W - BE &

plant and equipment SAEITE 774,880 719,143
Release of prepaid lease payments TE R ERIERED 7,061 4,712

781,941 723,855

Net exchange gain M 5 W e S5

—included in cost of sales —FT ASHERA (10,221) (47,517)

—included in other income — 5T AEMY A (11,023) (9,157)

(21,244) (56,674)

Auditor’s remuneration ZEAN N & 3,000 3,000
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEZRA 6,370,943 7,957,286
Impairment loss recognised TE S K H A ERERR

on trade and other receivables R ZBIERE

(see Note 24) (RFFzE24) 48,585 8,101
Loss (gain) on fair value change of AmEAENATEES

commodity forward contracts ZEE ()

(included in cost of sales) (BT ASHERA) 11,628 (2,454)
Loss on disposal and write off of HE RMEME - BE M

properties, plant and equipment R EE 3,874 608
Total staff costs, including directors’ BT AALEE - B

emoluments (see Note 13) EE5ME(BHEE13) 300,916 381,940
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # 2 —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EERERHME

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEMe
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: EfERZEmT ¢
2009 2008
—EThE T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH#T FAET
Salaries and other benefits He MEMER] 11,558 12,758
Contributions to retirement RNEFFT B
benefits scheme 493 492
Performance related incentive TERIRER A
payment 52,250 42,050
Total emoluments & 42%8 64,301 55,300
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ENSENSES M IT -
Directors were as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2009
BECSBASTAST-RLER
Cheung  Cheung  Cheung Lam  Cheung Chan Zhou Lo Chan Chan Leung Mok
Kwok Kwok Kwok Ka Ka Sau Liu Pei Ka  Charnwut Yue Kwong, Tai Yiu Keung,
Wa  Keung Ping Po Ho Chi Min Feng Leong  Bernard  Michael Chiu Peter Total

REE BEE RET HXA  BER MAR By RAEe BXR  RER  RHt REE RAE it
HK$'000  HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$000  HK$000
Tén TEm TR 2 TEm 2 TEm TER TEm TER TER TEm TER TER @ TEn  TER

Fess wg - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Other emoluments: R4t -
Selaries and HER
other benefits E g 2,054 1,850 1,855 1,590 688 628 538 510 1,125 180 180 180 180 11,558
Contibutionsto ~ RIREFIEHEI
retirement i3
benefts scheme 9 8 89 76 3 30 24 2 36 - - - - 493
Performance related  T{ERE£E
inoentive payment 58 11,500 11,500 11,500 11,500 2,025 2,225 900 900 - - - - - 52,250
Total emoluments & 13,653 13,433 13,444 13,166 2,946 2,883 1,462 1,433 1,161 180 180 180 180 64,301

Annual Report 2009 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited 1 01
ZTNFFR BEEERERERD



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EERER#M& =

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) BEEMS (E)
Year ended 31 December 2008
HE-ZZ\FTA=1-RILER
Cheung  Cheung  Cheung lam  Cheung Chan Zhou Lo Chan Chen Leung Mok
Kwok Kiwok Kwok Ka Ka Sau Lu Pei Ka  Chamwut Yue Kwong, Tai YiuKeung,
Wa Keung Ping Po Ho Chi Min Feng Leong  Bemard  Michael Chiy Peter Total

FEE  FER  FAY Mx® R RAE % REE  ER
HK$000  HKS00D  HKS000  HKS000  HKS00  HKBO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
Ten  TRn TR  TEnr  TEn TR TEnr  TEm  TEn

RER Rt 2ER  RER At
HKS000  HKS000  HKS00  HKB000  HKS000
TEnr TR TEr  TEn TR

Fees e - - - - - - - - B B - B B B
Other emoluments: ~ Efoi4 :
Salaries and B8R
other benefts HtER| 230 2078 2078 1,78t m 708 604 51 1,16 180 180 180 180 12758
Conroutions o~ RiKIERIEHEI
refirement benefts  #31
scheme 9 83 89 76 3 30 21 2 3b - - - - 49
Performance related  T/EREEE)
incentive payment 5B 9,500 9,500 9,500 9,600 1,625 1,625 400 400 - - - - - 42,080
Total emoluments ~ H& %% 11,899 11,661 11,667 11,357 2430 2358 1,028 980 1,200 180 180 180 180 55,300

No Directors waived any emoluments in the years
ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December
2008.

Note:  The performance related incentive payment is
determined with reference to the operating results,
individual performance and comparable market
statistics during both years.

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b)
For the years ended 31 December 2008 and
31 December 2009, all of the five highest paid
employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received
or receivable by the Directors or the Group’s five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

14. DIVIDENDS 14. BRB2
2009 2008
ZEThE —TTNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHIT
Dividends paid: BIREMRRE.
Interim dividend of HK10 cents A HARR B
(2008: HK12 cents) BRE B0
per ordinary share ZETN A1258) 300,000 360,000
Final dividend for 2008 of ZETNERERE
HK10 cents (2007: HK20 cents) BRI R0
per ordinary share ZZT 4 2058l) 300,000 600,000
600,000 960,000
Dividend proposed: BERE
Proposed final dividend HEAARE
of HK18 cents (2008: HK10 cents) BRI BR18(L
per ordinary share ZE2T)NF - 10540) 540,000 300,000

The final dividend of HK18 cents in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2009 (2008: final dividend of HK10
cents in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008)
per ordinary share has been proposed by the Directors
and is subject to the approval by the shareholders of the
Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EFeERREHE_TTAF+=A
=+ —HIEFERAREERERBR18E
W(ZZEZENF : HEZZZN\F+A
=+ —BIEFERBREA0E) - AR
RARIRFEREERRBFRSHE - 7
AMEE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 # & —EZENF+ - HA=1+—HIFF/Z

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. EBREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable RATIEE AR ERERZ IR T2
to the owners of the Company is based on the following EEE
data:
2009 2008
ZEThE T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHERT T
Earnings for the purpose of calculating  zFEBRERNEF
basic earnings per share vl 1,648,031 1,203,804

Number of shares

2778 4|
2009 2008
—EThE —EENEF
’000 ‘000
T +
Number of ordinary shares for the STESREARNZ
purpose of calculating basic B AR BR
earnings per share 3,000,000 3,000,000
No diluted earnings per share has been presented as the HRAREWEELEEESE LB
Company does not have any potential ordinary shares. B B 2GR TE R o
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. ¥EME
HK$'000
FA&T
FAIR VALUE NFE
At 1 January 2008 R-ZZTZN\F—-H—H 40,537
Increase in fair value NFEE N 1,468
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+_A=+—A1 42,005
Transfer from properties, plant and EEREME - BB ARG
equipment (Note 17) (FF&E17) 5773
Increase in fair value NEERE N 9,095
At 31 December 2009 RZETZANF+_A=+—H 56,873
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #t 2 —EZE N F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 December 2009 had been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on that date by Messrs. BMI
Appraisals Limited, independent qualified valuers not
connected with the Group. Messrs. BMI Appraisals
Limited are members of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation was arrived at by reference
to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 December 2008 had been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on that date by Messrs. Chung,
Chan & Associates, independent qualified valuers not
connected with the Group. Messrs. Chung, Chan
& Associates are members of the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors. The valuation was arrived at by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for
similar properties.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

16.

R"EME)

AREBEREMER-_ZTTAF+ A
=t —HZAFETHHE A B 5 s
ZBIUBERMGEMPMBEFEERA
ARZBETHEZEEER - hAFHE
AAEERARRERNEMBEEE - B
RIEETI2EZRUNERZEBEZITSE

Lo ke o
AZIEAE °

RZZBZENF+ZA=+—H  FxEEK
BMEZNFETRERSEY BREE Y
BUAERMEMBETNZBETHE
ZEEEY HETRIEERFFIE
MEEEE - TREEDNSERUNER
HEEZTIHEEETE °

AEERRNESHEAEELRELS
MOKAZFMBMEELS - BFRRAY
ERAGE - YNBERIMEREYE -

The carrying value of investment properties shown above LA H S 2R E AT
comprises:
2009 2008
—ZThE ZETN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHIT
Property interests situated BT HNNEBIFE Z
in Hong Kong under: MERER
Medium-term lease FRERTEAY 5,600 3,840
Property interests situated B TS ELOREB AN
outside Hong Kong under: AR
Medium-term lease FHAFAAY 20,473 12,440
Long lease RHATE A 30,800 25,725
51,273 38,165
56,873 42,005
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4z

faN=)

B PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &t —FEZ N F+ - H=+—HI F/&

17. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. V¥ - BERERE
Properties,
Furniture, plant and
Buildings fixtures equipment
for  Leasehold  Plantand and Motor under
ownuse improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles construction Total
it i RE ERYR
BR#T  WRKE RERER Rixfi RE  HEREG At
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§000
TR Thn T Thn Tt Thn ThT
C0ST A&
At 1 January 2008 R-EE\E-A-A 862,023 2057 5,667,668 137929 56,187 1,008403 7,734,767
Exchange adjusiments 5 45,813 - 39407 8146 3,066 8040 4dB4n
Addtions HE 5617 - 386,770 23,039 4440 655,801 1,075,667
Disposals and wite off e R (43824) - (15370) (5,79 (6,656 ) - (71,646)
Acquistion of subsicaries WEKBAR
(Note 33(e) & o) (M33a (o)) - - 12883 674 74 10330 124061
Reclassffications EFipi] 49,223 -1 24,159 - (1,250,583) -
31 December 2008 RoEEN\E+AZH-R 98w 2057 7,568,589 188,151 57,211 585,991 9,311,321
Exchange adjustments 5 g 1,368 - 11,315 308 8 689 13,763
Disposal of a subsicry (Note 34 (HE—RHEAR (Hzt34) - - (16,230) (905) - [B6)  [7191)
Addtions e 115 - 99,123 18613 1,068 183,641 303,160
Disposals and wirte off HE R - - (11831) (1,169) (2358) 6)  (121,884)
Transferred to investment ERzRENZ(Hie
properties (Note 16) (6,077) - - - - - (6,077)
Reclassfications ExipE] 51,768 S TA 78808 - l4e3%9) -
At 31 December 2009 RoEENETZAZT-B %606 2067 789211 283,804 56,604 281800 9,483,002
DEPRECIATION AND IVPAIRMENT ﬁémﬂ
At 1 January 2008 R-2E)\E-A-H 183,660 1659 2313090 50,875 33,307 - 2582591
Exchange adjustments B 8,636 - 121289 2891 1815 - 134,581
Provided for the year TEEERE 49470 506 637,308 24780 7079 - 719,143
Eiminated on disposals and wite off &85 SR 55 (19.325) - (7.004) 2.302) (4179 - (32,810)
31 December 2008 RZEENETZA=T-B 204 2165 3,064,633 76,44 38,022 - 3408506
Bxchange adustments Era% 30 - 43712 132 56 - 4,880
Providd for the year FERR 51938 18 669,251 47,985 5,556 - TIABR0
Disposal o a subsicary (Note 34~ (HE—REAR (Hzta4) - - (4,603) (354) - - [.957)
Transferred to investment ERERENE (Mite)
properties (Note 16) (304) - - - - - (304)
Eliminated on disposals and write off (1 EF5 35 R 85 - - (39.904) (1,063 2.027) - 42,994)
At 31 December 2009 RIEENETAZT-R 2430 2330 3,693,749 120,944 41,607 - 4135010
CARRYING VALUE BEE
At 31 December 2009 REEENET-AZT-H 601646 21 4198462 160860 14997 21800 5,348,082
31 December 2008 RIFENETZA=T-B 696411 0 446 111907 19180 585991 5907816
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

17.

18.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.

(continued)

All the Group’s buildings for own use are situated in the

PRC and held under medium-term leases.

The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other
than those under construction) are depreciated on a

HHAREA -

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

W% - BB RR )

AEEZHERBTHUNPE - AIZF

Lt - WERREERR (BRERERB
SMNIZLAT FE L R A REETHREITE ¢

Buildings for own use Over the remaining BREF ERBLONFBRRTHN
unexpired terms of FHS R T4
the leases or fifty years, (AREE BXE)
whichever is the shorter

Leasehold improvements ~ Over the remaining izEOEIES R A AFIERARTTAIH
unexpired terms of the g FHYIAZE+F
leases or five to ten years, (A& A%E)
whichever is the shorter

Plant and machinery 10 -20% B ks 10—20%

Furniture, fixtures and 10 - 331/,% Eh - HE 10—33/,%

equipment P&
Motor vehicles 20% E 20%

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

All of the Group’s prepaid lease payments are prepaid
for leasehold interest in land outside Hong Kong under

medium-term land use rights.

18. FWfIHE®RE

AEEZANEER
EHEsmz PHIBEOBNEENREA -

B REBLAIMNE

2009 2008
—EThE ZZEENF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THT FBT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BBEDTT -
Current asset mENEE 5,542 4,712
Non-current asset IERBEE 296,420 266,993
301,962 271,705
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 19. W@HHERE

2009 2008
—EThE —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T

Equity securities listed in United States, A ZEF 7 A B 5
at fair value (BEAFEHIE) 361,452 -

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, REB LT ZRAFES
at fair value (B AFEHIE) 22,496 -

Unlisted equity investments, JEETRATRE

at cost (Note) (R (F3E) 511{B) 19,800 19,800
403,748 19,800

Note:  The above unlisted investments represent a 10% equity interest
in unlisted equity securities issued by private entity established
in the PRC and is engaged in hotel operation. It is measured at
cost less impairment at the end of each reporting period because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the Directors are of the opinion that its fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

Included in available-for-sale investments are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they
relate:

MisE: Bl EHRERNP BRI S TR
FIIELMBRAE T Z10%HE - AL EHRE
WRBEE - AR R HEZARGERERE
R BEEERRREAEAEFELLTE &
SE ETIRE RS E & B AR E B IER A
MORERTH -

AHEERERETINEEERAR
DR BB IASNEEEHEZ AR -

2009 2008
—EThE —ETNF
’000 000
T T+t
United States Dollars e 46,340 -
20. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS 20. FREETE

Non-current deposits represent deposits paid for the
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment, and the
deposits will not be realised within twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amounts
were included in the non-current assets. The deposits
can only be refundable to the Group when the vendors fail
to deliver the assets to the Group within the timeframe as
agreed with the Group. The Directors expected that the
assets will be delivered to the Group within the next two
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

21.

DEFERRED TAXATION 21. EEREA
The following are the major deferred tax assets and TRANRS R KA RS R A
liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the RZEBREEHREBEEENBBEUREF Z
current and prior reporting periods: &
Revaluation
of properties Others Total
MEER Hth &kt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FATT FAT
At 1 January 2008 RZEZNF-HA—H - (1,632) (1,632)
Charge (Credit) for the year AEE T (M) 316 (3,136) (2,820)
Effect of change in tax rate MEkgH s 5 - 93 93
At 31 December 2008 RZEZNE+-_A=1—H 316 (4,675) (4,359)
Charge (Credit) for the year REFL () 1,500 (1,289) 211
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+_A=1+—8 1,816 (5,964) (4,148)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for financial reporting purposes:

AT &AM HRE B & miRR 2 ETER
TREEER DT -

2009 2008

—EEShE —TTN\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THEIT FHBT

Deferred tax assets RETITBE = 5,964 4,675
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEE (1,816) (316)
4,148 4,359

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$73,455,000 (2008: HK$73,847,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. All tax losses can be carried forward
indefinitely.

RBEHMERER - AEBEATEEIR
2k ) 2 A B 3 75 18 g5 48 7% 73,465,000 78
TL(ZZFZT)\F : 73,847,000 7C) - AR
RASH R AT TR+ AR R R A AR
EFIBEE - 2HMIBHIBERBLEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

21.

22.

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 21. SEERIEA =)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group also has RBEHBERED - AR KRR EFR
unrecognised deferred tax asset of HK$5,440,000 (2008: TR FEA - AL B N E BRI E
HK$5,820,000) in relation to loss on cash flow hedge ERAZ B SR M EBAR 2 RERIE
recognised in hedging reserve due to the unpredictability JERIE B 5,440,000 TT( — T T N\ F ¢
of future profit streams. 5,820,000/ 7T) °
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, a withholding tax is FEERESEERTE BT N\F—
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits A—H#  PREEEABEGLPHNEAF
earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 T B s A1 2k 2 AR S BURTE IR © &
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for NENL AP BB AR R HEF 2 B hs
in the consolidated financial statement in respect of 7 %8 5 580,080,000/ L (Z T ZE N\ £ -
temporary difference attributable to accumulated profits 421,084,000 7T ) * AEBEW REZER
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$580,080,000 ERNGEBHRRIELEE  RREANE
(2008: HK$421,084,000) as the Group is able to control Eabirs| B O EE o BE - BE@ER
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences FrEEn e g A a] B REE -
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
GOODWILL 22, HE
HK$’000
FHT
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2008, 31 December 2008, RZEZNEF—A—H -
1 January 2009 and 31 December 2009 —EE)\F+_-_A=+—H"
ZEThEFE-A—BK
—EENF+ZA=1+—H 238
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

22. GOODWILL (continued) 22. B8
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill BEBE BB ARMEEZAEZR
arising from acquisition of a subsidiary disclosed as BRIAGESHENT
follows:
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been REREMES - RS FIEEERE
allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) of specialty o HeEFLEMN([REeELESE
resins business unit. The carrying amount of goodwill frl) c PEEFEEEEEE >N 2B E
allocated to the CGU of specialty resins business unit is H B 7 R BRTE(E %) A238,0008 7T ( —
approximately HK$238,000 (2008: HK$238,000). T )\4F 1 238,000 7T) °
The recoverable amount of the specialty resins CGU has BRERIRIRSEESMN 2 AW B £ 5EIRF
been determined from value-in-use calculation. Goodwill FEEBENELET BHHESERGE
is expected to generate cash flow for indefinite period. FHERE - RAHECHEE RenE
To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on TERI AL S R E R E AT fE 2 A F BRI
five year periods financial budgets approved by senior BEREE - FREBEHEELEZZEFERE
management. The key assumptions for the value-in-use RIEEEMEZFRERERES R
calculations are the budgeted gross margin at a discount 12%(ZZFZNF  12%) K% (ZZFZEN
rate of 12% (2008: 12%) and growth rate of 5% (2008: F:5%) NEZENBARRRERE
5%), which are determined based on the unit’'s past HHBREHEET - ANIBLEAS
performance and management’s expectations for the UzrkbeBEaRERERE  WESR
market development. Since the recoverable amount of B RBEHEARE R EEREET
the CGU is higher than its carrying amount, the Directors fm IR E ARE
consider that the carrying value of goodwill at the end of
the reporting period is not significantly impaired.
23. INVENTORIES 23. #8
2009 2008
—EThE T N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFHT FHET
Raw materials =R 1,339,377 1,256,688
Work in progress R 377,437 314,009
Finished goods 2URK 5B 98,970 98,237
1,815,784 1,668,934
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24. B S EREMEWESRTEFMZIE

PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES REKERE

2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T T
Trade receivables Z Z FEWER K 2,043,899 1,762,339
Advance to suppliers BT HER 2B 280,903 18,674
Other receivables and prepayments H b fEUBR 3K M FB A /0B 295,004 160,984
2,619,806 1,941,997

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days, rEEKRTESIRPZEEHRERA120

depending on the products sold to its trade customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period:

B REFAEEERME - RRERBE
REH  BEHRUIRRZREOITNT

2009 2008

—EEThE —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

0-90 days 0£90H 1,548,804 1,016,067
91 - 180 days 91£180H 462,551 717,130
Over 180 days 180H A E 32,544 29,142
2,043,899 1,762,339

All bills receivables of the Group are aged within 90 days
at the end of the reporting period.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has
an internal credit grading system to assess the potential
customers’ credit quality and the board of Directors
has delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals for any
customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed every year. 85% (2008: 81%) of the trade
receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
have the best credit scoring attributable under the credit
grading system used by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

24.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$309,001,000 (2008: HK$343,547,000) which are
past due at the end of the reporting period for which the
Group has not provided for impairment loss as the Group
consider that these debtors are financially stable and the
management has taken action to recover the outstanding
balance. The Directors are confident that these amounts
are still recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. The average age of these
receivables is 120 days (2008: 120 days).

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired are as follows:

24,

BoARHMEWRREFAETREA
R EBWREE @)

REEE ZRWRERRERIERBERR -
44 B T {8 /309,001,000 T ( —ZTZEN
F 1 343,547,000 7T) - REREHIRHIA R
EAELEH  AEEWERZSHIAE
HREBERE  REAANEBERE  Z
LERAMEER  BEREECHFIUKE
REEZHNTE - EFHE - Z5HE
TAR FULE - AEBPZEHREL EF
BEMERSD - ZFRUERERZ FHERER
B1208(ZFZT\F 1 1208) ©

BREEREZESRKIRRZ Rk

2009 2008

—ETHE —EENF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#&T T

91 - 120 days 912 120H 112,593 149,300
121 - 150 days 1212150H 129,202 135,244
151 - 180 days 1512180H 34,662 29,861
Over 180 days 180H A £ 32,544 29,142
309,001 343,547

The Group has provided fully for all receivables that are
past due beyond 240 days because historical experience is
such that these receivables are generally not recoverable.
Allowance on trade receivables aged between 120 and
240 days are made based on estimated irrecoverable
amounts by reference to past default experience and
objective evidences of impairment determined by the
difference between the carrying amount and the present
value of the estimate future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables,
the Group monitors any change in the credit quality of
the trade receivables since the credit was granted and up
to the reporting date. The Directors considered that the
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk of
trade and other receivables, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.

BELRBREI240 B A £ 2 FEBERR—
RRESEWRE - MAEBUZEFRKERS
EEL AR - BRIRM 120224028 5
EUFRR B - W2 ERERKRERZ
il ET AT YR B 5 58 & R 1 B S A R A B
MEEAEAARASREREMER
AENEBERRETHRESHE -

HETEZREIER 2 TIRELEER - BF
FAREEEEERAHAH  AEEER
BHRKERERERZEESH - EF
RE ARBYESEETZEFREM
RUERERERR  BREZERZRS7TR
BEPOH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24. B S EREMEWESRTEFMZIE

PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES BREKEE =)
(continued)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts REEEE S SE
2009 2008
—EThE —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAT
Balance at the beginning of the year FY R 122,009 115,322
Impairment losses recognised on FLE F IR FRAER
trade receivables BEEE 48,585 8,101
Amounts written off as uncollectible MsE A AT e 2 BIR = (1,414)
Balance at the end of the year FRERR 170,594 122,009
Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are REEBEBRFEANEREZE S ERE
individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate R HBEERRA170,594,0008 L (ZEF )N
balance of HK$170,594,000 (2008: HK$122,009,000) F 122,009,000 7T) * ZEFIERB R
which have either been placed under liquidation or in HEAVHREBIET 258 - AEBEZ
severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any LEBT BT B EAERR -

collateral over these balances.

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments B 5 K B A YR R R TER HOA K I E
and bills receivables are the following amounts BEETIASEERZEE 2 EEEIN
denominated in a currency other than the functional HNEMERHE 2 FREE ¢

currency of the group entities to which they relate:

2009 2008

ZEBAF —EENF

Amount Amount

&8 TR

‘000 ‘000

Fr Tt

United States Dollars e 73,355 58,632
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

25.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits with an original
maturity of one month or less. At 31 December 2009, the
pank balances and deposits carry interest at the prevailing
market interest rates which range from 0.01% to 3.7%
(2008: 0.01% to 3.28%) per annum.

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, the Group had bank
balances and cash that were not freely convertible or
were subject to exchange controls in the PRC amounting
to approximately HK$845.3 million and HK$870.0 million,
respectively.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they
relate:

25.

HOTERRBES

RITHEBR IR REAEEREZHSR
REHBA—M@ANARZ EHETT
Ko RZEZAF+_A=+—H " R1T
HEER R RIRRITISFEFENF0.01E
Z37E(ZZZ)\F : 0.01/EE3.28/F )&t
B o

RZFFNFR-ZFFNF+A=1—
A - AEEAA BB X RKAX T EHNE
BRIFARRZBITERRASHBHOR
845,300,000/ 7T 870,000,000/ 7T, °

RITEBRRREBETIIASE R AR
ZHBEER AN G EHEZ 3

2009 2008

ZEBAF —EENF

Amount Amount

&8 TR

‘000 ‘000

T T

United States Dollars e 91,835 102,881
Japanese Yen H 201 835
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW 26.
SUBSIDIARIES

FElr () ARMELTRIET

2009 2008
—EThE T N\F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FHET FAT
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries — RBVEETE [ EIE F
under current assets oy=VNSIE/ O]
— trade nature —E 544 323,070 182,406

The Group allows credit period normally up to 120 days
for sales to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are
non-interest bearing, unsecured and aged within 90 days
at the end of the reporting period.

AEBRBEELRTERRMNBARZEE
H—M & & A1208 - ZFEBFIBELEEE
REER - HRRYARSHMERE A
FEEI0RAZ A o

2009 2008
—ZThEF ZEEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THT FHIT
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries mEBEE NEMRR
under current liabilities M8 RIFIR
— trade nature BHHE 20,040 10,818

The Group’s non-interest bearing amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries have repayment terms of less than 30 days.
The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

27.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

27. TE&MTIR

2009 2008
—EBhF —ZETNEF
Asset Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE af BE BfE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TR

Commodity forward contracts ERERAY - 11,628 2,454 -
Foreign currency forward contracts SNERERA 4 - - 573 255
Interest rate swap contracts FRIEEAH) - 32,971 - 35,273
- 44,599 3,027 35,528

Analysed for reporting purposes as: SEmEMTWT
Current ok - 11,628 3,027 255
Non-current IERE - 32,971 - 35,273
- 44,599 3,027 35,528

Cash flow hedges REeEREHH

During both years, the Group used interest rate swap
contracts (net quarterly settlement) to minimise its
exposure to certain cash flow changes of its variable
rate bank borrowings by swapping a proportion of the
variable rate borrowings from variable rate to fixed rate.
The terms of these interest rate swap contracts were
negotiated to match with those of the hedged bank
borrowings (i.e. same notional amount of the derivatives
match with principal amounts of bank borrowings, same
currency and same interest rate index). The Directors
consider that the interest rate swap contracts are highly
effective hedging instruments and have designated them
as hedging instruments for hedge accounting purposes.

REZMEFE  ARBEBEIDFEHE
ERZEERER  MAMNEEHAN(F
BHEEFR)RERTRFEZRITEER
THEREEH AR - ZFMNXEHE
2R Ty BB A R IRTTRE B 2 1R5K M
AREGHBIEETEIAZ EREERS
RITIEEZAE SR - HRAK R RAARF
KR - ARBAEFRR - MEEHEL
RIBERNER T A - WIRENXEHE
HRREPEF REHEIHRTA -
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27.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27.

(continued)
Cash flow hedges (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

The major terms of the interest swap contracts are set out

below:

At 31 December 2009

HERMT R

RERBHMN(E)
MEBHAHNZ TRIEKIT

R-ZBBAF+ZA=1t—H

Receive
Notional amount Maturity floating Pay fixed
mE F|H A iz FRfiER
3 contracts of HK$100,000,000 each Within 1 to 2 years HIBOR 2.39% t0 2.90%
=1»&17100,000,000 T2 & —EMER BARITAZERE  2.39FZE2.90E
8 contracts of HK$150,000,000 each Within 1 to 2 years HIBOR 2.37% 10 2.76%
S\ 1515 150,000,00078 T2 & I —ZMFA EFERRITAEHFE  237EE2.76E
1 contract of HK$200,000,000 Within 1 to 2 years HIBOR 2.78%
—{7200,000,0007 7T.2 & #J —EMENRN BEBRITRAFERL 2,782
1 contract of HK$300,000,000 Within 1 to 2 years HIBOR 3.88%
—1%300,000,000/ T 2 & 47 —EMFA HARITRZERE 3.88[#
At 31 December 2008 R-ZEENF+=ZA=+—H
Receive
Notional amount Maturity floating Pay fixed
H{E £ | Rz 2 FRfiER
3 contracts of HK$100,000,000 each Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 2.39% to 2.90%
=1»&17100,000,000/8 T2 & 4 ME=FN HEBRITRZEFLS 2.39EFZF2.90E
8 contracts of HK$150,000,000 each Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 2.37% 10 2.76%
1515 150,000,00078 0.2 & 4J ME=FR BARITAZEFE 237EZE2.76E
1 contract of HK$200,000,000 Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 2.78%
—1%200,000,0007% 7.2 & I ME=ZFR BARITRZERE 2,782
1 contract of HK$300,000,000 Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 3.88%
—1%300,000,000 T2 & 4] ME=ZFR BBRITRAFERE 3.88/2

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the hedge
was 97% to 99% (2008: 80% to 118%) effective in
hedging the accumulated cash flow exposure to interest
rate movements. At 31 December 2009, fair value
losses of HK$32,971,000 (2008: HK$35,273,000) have
been deferred in hedging reserve and are expected to
be reclassified to consolidated income statement when
the hedged interest expense is charged to profit or loss

quarterly.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, an amount
of approximately HK$28,709,000 (2008: HK$6,138,000)
was transferred from hedging reserve to profit or loss and
was included in the finance costs in consolidated income

statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

27.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27.

(continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting)

During both years, the Group entered into commodity

forward contracts to hedge against part of the Group’s

exposure in copper price fluctuations. At the respective

maturity dates, the contracts are settled net in cash with

the issuer. The major terms of the outstanding contract at

the end of the reporting period are as follows:

At 31 December 2009

Contract amount

P ST A ()

HitpfT4 T A FUEHEREIIR)
REZMEFE  AEEFTYERERS
# o EABERAKENE D RERER
o REIHA  BBETANRSEES
HFER - RIEMEAERE R - ZHAKRE
HZ AN EBFFMT

R-ZEEAF+TZA=1t—H

CfokA ]
Currency Quantity Maturity Forward price
4] HE E3lb ]| ERE
US$ Copper 500 metric tonnes 1 February 2010 Sell at US$6,613/metric tonne
eV 500 AME 87 —ZT-TF-A—A 76,613% 7T,/ A E H
US$ Copper 500 metric tonnes 1 February 2010 Sell at US$6,606/metric tonne
e 500 2B “Z-TF-A—H 76,606 7T, A E H
US$ Copper 500 metric tonnes 1 February 2010 Sell at US$6,577/metric tonne
= 500 A S —T-TF-A—H 76,577,/ AEE
US$ Copper 500 metric tonnes 31 January 2010 Sell at US$6,574/metric tonne
£ 5002 ME 87 “T-TF-A=+—B R6574F%ET/ AEEH

At 31 December 2008

Contract amount

R-ZEENF+ZA=+—H

CEokiA ]
Currency Quantity Maturity Forward price
H¥ HE b ERE
Us$ Copper 500 metric tonnes 3 March 2009 Sell at US$3,617/metric tonne
ET 500§ —TTNF=A=H R3,617% 7T,/ AHEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. fi4&mTI A=)

(continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting) HfT4E T H (A FEUEHEFHETIR) (&)
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group HE-_ZZN\F+_A=+—HIFE
entered into foreign currency forward contracts to AEBITUINERIIA Y - AP ARE
hedge against part of the Group’s exposure in foreign B WD INE R E R o NEDIEAE - B
currency fluctuations. At the respective maturity dates, BITANRSEESLFRE - NS HE
the contracts are settled net in cash with the issuer. The HERER  ZERINEBZEHZEERR
major terms of the outstanding contracts at the end of the NN

reporting period are as follows:

At 31 December 2008 R-EENF+ZA=+—H
Notional amount Maturity Forward contract rates
H{E £ | EHSESE
9 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.695
NP EHIEE1,000,000E T2 64 —FR 12570 H.7.69578 7T
9 contracts to sell US$2,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.695
N5 &5 1 E2,000,000E T2 A 4 —FR 12704, 7.6957%8 7T
The above derivatives are measured at fair value at the LMSTETENELBEBRZ 7 & rik
end of the reporting period by reference to valuation BRRENEEREARZEIARKZ
provided by counterparty financial institutions for these HE% - BATEEZ -
instruments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. ¥5REMEMIERREES=E
BILLS PAYABLES

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables EoREMENBEID BIEABH
of HK$457,068,000 (2008: HK$389,502,000). The 457,068,000 & T ( = T T )\ #F
following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the end 389,502,000/ ) B S IETBRFR - &
of the reporting period. FERBEFN M ERHEERE B 2RO
AT
2009 2008
—EThE T NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THT FAET
0-90 days 0£90H 369,417 299,958
91 - 180 days 912180H 54,919 59,123
Over 180 days 180B A £ 32,732 30,421
457,068 389,502
All bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days at REB A RNRE 2 R H RERE HE
the end of the reporting period. EREHEMNIOAZA -
Included in trade and other payables and bills payables B 5 RHEMENERKENZEREBE T
are the following amounts denominated in a currency NEEERAE R EEINEEE
other than the functional currency of the group entities to 2 TRER

which they relate:

2009 2008

ZEEThEF T N\F

Amount Amount

ot ] B

’000 ’000

Fx T

United States Dollars EVIv 56,325 8,327
Japanese Yen H 436,450 64,812
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

29. BANK BORROWINGS 29. fITESH
2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FA&T
Unsecured: A
Bank loans RITER 2,695,880 2,914,376
Trust receipt loans SEWIEER 297,984 294,018
2,993,864 3,208,394
Carrying amount repayable: AR TSIEEEE Y
ARMEE
Within one year —FR 1,030,516 1,078,370
More than one year, but not —F L BT BBRF
exceeding two years 1,593,934 676,117
More than two years but not FELA BTN BB =F
more than three years 269,149 1,106,840
More than three years but not =F LA BN EBAMF
more than four years 100,265 247,047
More than four years but not e BTN BBASF
more than five years - 100,020
1,963,348 2,130,024
Total A&t 2,993,864 3,208,394

Bank borrowings at 31 December 2009 are variable-
rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from
HIBOR+0.5% to HIBOR+2.0% (2008: HIBOR+0.5% to
HIBOR+2.0%) per annum.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank
borrowings is 1% to 3.8% (2008: 2.1% to 4.6%) per
annum.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 # £ —ZZ

NFEFZA=1+—HIEFE

29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 29. SRITEE 2
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts BITEERE T EEE AR 26
denominated in a currency other than the functional EREAINEEESHE 2 EE -
currency of the group entities to which they relate:
2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
Amount Amount
&8 K|
’000 ‘000
T Tt
United States Dollars =TT 38,203 11,798
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. =&
THE COMPANY ¥ NG|
Issued and
Authorised fully paid
BE BRITRE#E
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
B8 A &f K& E &f
‘000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000
T THT T THT
Ordinary shares of FREE0I10ETT
HK$0.10 each: T
At 1 January 2008, RZZTN\F-A-H
31 December 2008 “EE\F+-A=+-8BK
and 31 December 2009  —TTHhE+-A=1 — 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 300,000
31. SPECIAL RESERVES 31. YERUGEIE

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference

between the net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries

and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued

for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation

in 2006 and (i) the reduction in the registered capital of a

wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC.

REEZFRRERINEKRBHEARZE
EFEER _TERNFETEEEERS
WEEME1T 2 AR AR EEME Z B
Z8 0 R(i)-HRPEXINZEMER
Bl FEME R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

32.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and
the shareholders of KCHL on 18 May 2007 and 25 June
2007 respectively. The Scheme has taken effect after
obtaining the approval from the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange on 6 July 2007.

The Scheme would be valid for a period of ten years. The
Board may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe
for shares in the Company to eligible participants who
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of
the Company and include (i) any employee or proposed
employee (whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive Director), consultants or advisers of or to the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; (ii)
any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors), any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any
customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any
person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

The subscription price of the Company’s share in respect
of any option granted under the Scheme must be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

32.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The option may be accepted by a participant within
28 days from the date of the offer for the grant of the
option upon the payment of a consideration of HK$1.
An option may be exercised at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from
the date upon which the offer for the grant of the option
is accepted but shall end in any event not later than 10
years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. The Directors
may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance
targets that must be achieved and any other conditions
that must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised
upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company) must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of approval of the
Scheme.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the share capital of the Company then in issue unless
approved by the shareholders of the Company and KCHL
in general meetings.

No share option was granted pursuant to the Scheme
since its adoption.

32.

BEmE )
SEATANEREREBEBREZR
HE28RA - BRI EVETERESR
BRE - EABREARARAERETE
FMBMEEAFEAN 2 BEABERITE @ W8
EEERHME  AhErBRERHES
EEA BRS  XRERBRTAER
BEBRERDBSEF+FZARL
WAXZAT B2 IRBRIEGEXAR - EF
A2RRBER2EALIETERMRLZ
BEABRERNVARA 2 KEHRE - EF
ATEKRZITEBEREMEMATERX
AR -

WRIEFZ A8 B AR R B AT EL A 2 5 i AR
AR Z A EABREGLLN S M8
AR AR AT B R AR R AE fa] E A 8 e I AR
RERT 8 Z IR E R B IR B ) T T
Al T BT 2 ARRIRMER - & /S
HBARR NI EZEE BB #HITRD
HBE210% °

RIBFZ 8 R AR B AR A EL A 18 S B A
BT AREMERITERBERTRZE
FEBRAERITER A TRITZ AR AR
HA  REIEHEERNRBNRZ2EET
PR AR30% e

REM+ ZEAMERS2EALREZ
BRBRE(BEDITRIRARITRZELE
P ) T TR T 2 31T Mi§ T HEITZ AR A
BiEE - TEBAANARERDEITR
R2Z1% @ BRIFEARRR RRBE T 2R
PR AEHERIERIER

B BIAR - BEERIEZA 8RN
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. IESMRELAT
(a) On 1 January 2008, the Group acquired 100% (@) RZZZ)\F—A—H ' A&EERA
equity interest in a company from an independent —EZ2BEUE=FRE-—R2ENE
third party, of which the principal activity of its EBAEHE - AR B AR EER
subsidiary is manufacture and distribution of FRUER DT EREME  RER
industrial raw materials, for a cash consideration & 41,941,000/ 7T ° It B UEE LA
of HK$1,941,000. This acquisition has been BT e AR o W IEUREEI fmE
accounted for using the purchase method. No e o
goodwill arise as a result of the acquisition.
The net assets acquired in the acquisition are as WEEFTI A C EEFENT !
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
WA RS BFET
ZIEEERLFE
HK$'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BAEEFAE :
Properties, plant and equipment VI - BB Rk 110,633
Prepaid lease payments FERHERIE 64,019
Non-current deposits EmENE] & 52
Inventories FE 858
Trade and other receivables and B 5 REMEIIRT K
prepayments SEENEeE 7,720
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 1,327
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMEERR (182,668)
Total consideration satisfied by cash PIRE T2 R E 1,941
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEEA 7R & m L FEE
Cash consideration paid BRERE (1,941)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARITEBLRS 1,327
(614)

The subsidiary contributed a loss of
HK$16,385,000 to the Group’s profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31
December 2008.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

On 1 June 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in a company from an independent third
party, of which the principal activity is manufacture
and distribution of electronic raw materials, for
a cash consideration of HK$40,620,000. This
acquisition has been accounted for using the
purchase method. No goodwill arise as a result of
the acquisition.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition are as
follows:

U RRPH B 2R ()
) R-ZENFAA—A AEEH

—HRBUE=FTWE-—HIBRSF
SLENDHETRHMZ AR 228
P - 3R & AR {E 540,620,000 &
T WWRWBIABE DA
UL B A PR o

WRBAZEEFELT

Acquiree’s

carrying amount
before combination
and fair value

WU A RS BFET
ZIEEERLFE
HK$’'000
FATT
Net assets acquired: BABEFE -
Properties, plant and equipment Y - BB KRB 13,428
Inventories FE 18,987
Trade and other receivables and B 5 K H M FEUER R R
prepayments TEfFRIR 67,815
Bank balances and cash RITHABRER® 61,514
Trade and other payables B 5 K E A FEFBR R (121,124)
Total consideration satisfied by cash LRSS 2 2R (E 40,620
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WESEA IR RAFR
Cash consideration paid BRRESRE (40,620)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARITHEBERE 61,514
20,894

The subsidiary contributed a loss of HK$2,121,000
to the Group’s profit for the period between the
date of acquisition and 31 December 2008.

ZHBARNKERREHE=
TEN\F+-_A=+—BLFEL
HA A 5 72N 5= B0 1) 75 2K 2,121,000
Vom0
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

33.

34.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 33. WEMRELR#)
If the acquisitions in respect of items (a) and (b) had been ME@BEBLDODBRER -_ZZ)N\FEFY
completed on the beginning of year 2008, total group TR _EENFREFELEEL S
revenue for 2008 would have been HK$10,266 million and 10,266,000,000% 7t © &N F E a7 #5 &
profit for that year would have been HK$1,252 million. 1,252,000,0008 7C ° # % & RHEH A A
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only B RAMDRTWENFIRK  AEEE
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results RIEM 7 B EENKEEL  NTEKA
of operations of the Group that actually would have been RIRZELE ZTEH ©
achieved had the acquisitions been completed at the
beginning of 2008, nor is intended to be a projection of
future results.
DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. HE—MKELATF
On 30 September 2009, the Group disposed of its entire —ERNFNAZTH  AEERBILE
interest in a subsidiary to an independent third party for a ZHHE—HBARZ2EER  Be
cash consideration of HK$42,497,000. The net assets at RAE /42,497,000 T - NIEERBZE
the date of disposal is as follow: EFENT
HK$’000
T
Net assets disposed of: HEEESE
Properties, plant and equipment Y - BREMEE 12,234
Inventories FE 19,305
Trade and other receivables and H 5 REHAM BRI R
prepayments TESFRIE 23,986
Bank balances and cash RITEEBR LIRS 22,428
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMEERR (35,451)
Total consideration satisfied by cash IR & X7 @R (E 42,497
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZBRESRAFE
Cash consideration received BMRERE 42,497
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERITEBRIRS (22,423)
20,074
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. BEFKiE
2009 2008
“EBhEF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FixT TR

Capital expenditure contracted for but ~ FLEEEWE - BEN

not provided in the consolidated BEMEET 4
financial statements for the BRERE BT
acquisition of properties, plant WERETEE
and equipment B 32,340 132,670
36. OPERATING LEASES 36. EEHEH
2009 2008
“EThE T N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
The Group as lessee: REEERAMEA -
Minimum lease payments charged to FARGE R
the consolidated income statement Nk 2 HIEFEL
during the year (NEZN
— for premises . JE 3 2,626 3,794
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by BERNNTRAEAEBERETHAEME
the Group for certain of its office properties and all lease Bt zHE - FIBHEAONRKZ 2B ARE
payments are fixed and predetermined. ENRTEFEE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

36. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 36. #EEHH 2
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s future RI|EHBELERE B XEERET A
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 7 EEBHAON BB I 2B RAER
are payable as follows: THIERRE S A
2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —&FR 676 520
After one year but not later than —FRERAFR
five years 1,852 1,816
After five years hE 17,534 17,549
20,062 19,885
The Group as lessor: REEEREEA
2009 2008
—EThE —ZEENEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Rental income credited to the FRNFFAFERRTZ

consolidated income statement He WA (B

during the year, net of outgoing amount 3% #5479 4248,0005# 7T

of approximately HK$248,000 (ZEENF:

(2008: HK$243,000) 243,000%7T)) 11,368 11,904
The Group’s investment properties are rented to REEZEEYFEIRTERET 2 EREME
outside parties for periods up to seven years at fixed SHETIAAL HHGRALF - R
predetermined amounts. At the end of the reporting HHEERER AEBEREFITVA
period, the Group had contracted with tenants to receive 49 0 RIBETATRGE 2 2L TR BB
the following future minimum lease payments under non- Bz SARBHEHRIAT -

cancellable operating leases:

2009 2008

—EThE —ZEENEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAIT

Within one year —F R 7,203 7,390
After one year but not later than —FRERAFR

five years 6,794 12,227

After five years HFE 715 1,565

14,712 21,182
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

37.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which was registered under the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme which was
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group and are invested in funds under the control of
independent trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme are members of both the ORSO Scheme and
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the
Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the
MPF Scheme.

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
state-sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the pension schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the pension schemes is to make the required
contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and
the state-sponsored pension schemes of approximately
HK$10,800,000 (2008: HK$8,583,000) had been charged
to the consolidated income statement.

37.

3B fi F 5t
AR B F S 2 00— AR VR B 2R AT B 45

Bl ZEHBZEERAEE  EE
DA WIRERBBIETAENZ
g - RRUBEEFE ZAE 2 mix
BARGHEIZEE - RKABERKS
RBEERFTEIZKE  MABR_-EEE
FroAZEMARKEZ BB LA
SINREEEE

TEMERRZEERTERTEFZE
REBRKEIKE - ZEMBERRAR
FEXHZR BB ARKEE - A
XINBRRERN - AEBRAKETEIETTZ
ME— B ERPIBER -

M ERKRTE - RRESHBRBERED
RIRET B 2 1 304) 410,800,0007% 7T
(ZZT)\F : 8,583,000/67T) ' CELEE
Wzs R AR HIBR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 15 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BFEAELEZS
The Group entered into the following significant AREFHREEATEFRNETZERRLS
transactions with related parties during the year: mr
2009 2008
—EThE —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
() Sales of goods and drilling 0] BIEESNE
services provided to fellow HEBEmMM&
subsidiaries RHEARS 2,101,289 2,302,441
(i) Purchase of goods from (i) BIEES NG
fellow subsidiaries HEE D 370,343 276,287
(i) Rental expenses paid to (i) BIEES NG
fellow subsidiaries TSR 5,417 2,122
(v)  Rental income received from vy MERRMBAF
fellow subsidiaries WERAE & YA - 396
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEAESME
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key FRN - ESERAMFZETRASZHE W
management during the year is as follows: K
2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FAT
Short-term benefits 72 HAtE A 67,411 57,658
Post-employment benefits RIREIER 568 562
67,979 58,220
The remuneration of Directors and key executives FEERFETHRAEBZHeSZERAIE
is determined with reference to the performance of IXRBEMSHBBEETE -

individuals and market trends.

1 32 Annual Report 2009 Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
TTNFFR RERERERARA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B #& R T MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #Z —ZEZNF+ - H=+—HILFE

39.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39.
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2008 and 2009 are as follows:

FLFERMBLATZFR

R-FENFR-FFAF A=
B ARAFEEHBARZEEWT

Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
gL/ BRETRMRE FRAEMEE
HELRERE BRRESHE k% /BlEE RAEERLA FERY
2009 2008
BBAE —TL5
% %
Excel First Investments Limited British Virgin USS1 100 100 Investment holding
BARAERAR Islands e RARR
EBRAEE
Fogang Kingboard Industry Ltd. PRC! RMB878,100,000 64.44 63.66  Manufacture and distribution
BHREERERAR el AR%878,100,0007C of copper fol
BERD HIE
Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Bermuda? US$72,250,000 64.44 63.66  Investment holding
Limited BRE 72,250,000% T RERR
Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated PRC US$7,615,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Material Company Limited R 7,615,000% T of bleached kraft paper
BB (B REMHBRAT RERD HEEARA
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates PRCT 1S$29,466,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co. Limited ! 29,466,000%7T of laminates
R (R BRERERAR HERDHEFAR
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper PRC! US$17,936,546 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Laminates Co. Ltd. i 17,936,546 T of laminates
BB (HR) BEMRERAR BERD HERER
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. ZEATFFEMEBATRZHE 2
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
3 BETRYRE FEEAEE
GEAGIEE BRI RESHE k% /ithas RAEERLE FERH
2009 2008
—IThE —TIN\E
% %
Kingboard Electronic Raw PRC! 1US$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Material (Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd. e 30,000,000 ¢ of laminates
EEETIHOIR)BRAT] RERD HERER
Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) PRC HK$189,491,052 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. g 189,491,062/ of laminates
IFRERERERLA SERSHEERRER
Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC 1S$28,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. =il 28,000,000% ¢ of chemicals
BE(IHCIERAR RERSEILIER
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC" 1S$32,010,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. " 32,010,000% 7T of laminates
BEEER(BILERAT BERD HERAER
Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Fibre PRC" US$13,700,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Glass Co. Limited ! 13,700,000%7C of glass fabric
BECEM) R A ERAR BERD HRRL A
Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Copper PRC" US$64,000,000 64.44 63.66  Manufacture and distribution
Foil Limited R 64,000,000% 7 of copper fol
BEEM) WAERAR BERDHAE
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39.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. F2AFRIEEMEAFZHE 2)

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
3 BRITRBE FEEAEE
GEAGIEE BRI RESHE k% /ithas RAEERLE FERH
2009 2008
—IThE —TIN\E
% %
Kingboard (Panyu Nansha) PRC" RMB250,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Petrochemical Company Limited e AR#250,000,0007C of chemicals
BEEEEL)ALERAR RERSEIIER
# These are investment holding companies which have no specific # LENB R EERAR - UESEEE
principal place of operations. A o
1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of 1 ISR B ASINE B E 2 2 A B
Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprises. A

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

ERFAIIBARRIEERRIEFERN
SEREREEZARBNBRR - A
RAEZRRIIHEMMER B ZFE
FB/NILR °

5 I 2 A AR LA 37T A 1
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Financial Summary

LB

RESULTS E ¥ |

Year ended 31 December
BE+-RA=t—HLEE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—ZTHE  ZETNF  ZTTHFE  ZTTN\E EEBAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR THT TR THT TET

Revenue o e 6,131,169 8472422 10426783 10,127,764 9,070,983
Profit before taxation BEATHF 1233100 1,887,260 2,054,835  12321,136 1,793,940
Income tax expense A% (91,030) (145,849) (129,226) (70,466) (128,117)
Profit for the year KEEEH 1,142,070 1,741,411 1925609 1250670 1,665,823
Profit for the year AEZRF

attributable to: (G -

Owners of the ARFE

Company BEA 1,078,235 1,638,134 1813269 1203804 1,648,031
Minority interests VYRR 63,835 108,277 112,340 46,866 17,792

1,142,070 1,741,411 1,925,609 1,250,670 1,665,823

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
At 31 December
R+=B=+-AH
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
“ETRE  —TEA “ITt+E  ZZT)\& ZEEAE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRL TRT TRL TRT TET

Total assets EEHE 13241970 10245880 12,531,209 12,804,358 13,699,718
Total liabilities fEEE (8193,749)  (4,606,776)  (4,936,803)  (4,646,213)  (4,487,190)
Net assets BEEE 5048221 5639104 7594408 8158145 9,212,528

Equity attributable to owners ~ KATHEAE A

of the Company e iR 4447876 4,938,168 6,739,745 7,268,942 8,327,709
Minority interests DHRR R 600,345 700,936 854,661 889,203 884,819
Total equity BB 5,048,221 5,639,104 7,594,406 8,158,145 9,212,528

The summary of results, assets and liabilities for the year ended #HEZZTERF+ A=+ HIEFEZEERE
31 December 2005 which was extracted from the Company’s EMABEHENREERRTR_EEF+—H
prospectus dated 24 November 2006, have been prepared on  =+PHHTIE 2 RREIR - WikEHEERR - 14
a combined basis as if the group structure, at the time when the — TAZNA BRI EIR LM 2 SEEBRNZ
Company’s shares were listed on the main board of the Stock  EFEHM—EFIE -

Exchange had been in existence throughout those years.
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